HESZEEFH

Consumer Counci 201 O ‘201 1

Annual Report




EELRE2FH

2010-20

Consumer Council Annual Report

Tel 855 : 2856 3113 Fax EEIRHS : 2856 3611

Website At : http://www.consumer.org.hk

E-mail SEHIUE : cc@consumer.org.hk

22/F, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong
BB ER I REERBFERL22E

2010-1T HEEZESFR



Contents

p03

pl16

p19

p24

p638

p72

p76

p143

F 34

Foreword

S

The Consumer Council
HMEEES

Forestalling & Mediating Disputes between Consumers and Businesses

TERI MR EE B A E B RIALS

Advocating Best Practice and Competition in the Marketplace
BRREESHTELA TS

Ensuring Product Quality and Safety
BREMBRNAZS

Collecting Market Information on Services and Products

SEERBI TR EE MV &R

Disseminating Consumer Information

RECHEE &R

Empowering Consumers through Education

HERE) — MR HE BB BRERE

Improving Legal Protection

InsgiEERE SR IREE

Promoting Sustainable Consumption

HEARERE

Representing the Consumer Voice and Networking

HEE UEALNARMRRREE

Appendices
g

Annual Report of the Consumer Legal Action Fund

HEBEFAESFR

CONSUMER COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11



Foreword
=

The year under review was both momentous and fulfilling
for the Consumer Council. After an interval of two decades,
the Council is honoured to be the co-host of the Consumers
International (Cl) World Congress once again since the last
Congress held in Hong Kong in 1991. The 19th Cl World
Congress, held in May 2011, was well attended by some 700
consumer leaders, government officials, academics, as well
as trade and industry representatives from all over the world,
striking a record high in the number of delegates in the
history of CI World Congress. It was truly an epoch-making
assembly of the global consumer movement. The success
of the Congress has gained the Council much goodwill and
a wide recognition of its international standing in consumer

protection.

The Council has long maintained close liaison with its
Mainland counterparts. This year, we took one step further by
inviting over 130 delegates of consumer organisations from
Mainland China to attend the World Congress, constituting
by far the largest delegation from a single country. Such
active involvement of China, the major producer of consumer
goods for all corners of the world and the most populous
nation with 1.3 billion consumers, added to the intensity and

richness of the discussions at the World Congress.

Whilst delighted to have recorded a slight decline in the
number of consumer complaints, the Council continued
its efforts in curbing deceptive, misleading and unfair trade
practices through collaboration with other regulatory bodies
and enhancing consumer awareness through publicity and
public education. The significance of our work in consumer
empowerment was explicitly demonstrated by the notable
reduction of consumer complaints in relation to time sharing
schemes, with a drop of 70% from 237 cases in 2009-10 to
72 cases in 2010-11.

During the year, the operation of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund was extensively reviewed by its Management
Committee and the Council, to streamline procedures and
improve effectiveness, in order to meet new challenges and

to provide speedy assistance to aggrieved consumers seeking
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legal redress. The Council has also revamped its procedures
in handling consumer complaints, and reviewed the
mechanism for “naming” bad elements in the trade, all with a
view to stepping up the functions of the Consumer Council in

spearheading the cause of consumer protection.

Since the introduction of the Individual Visit Scheme, the
interflow of people and goods between Hong Kong and
Mainland China has reached an unprecedented level. This
has given rise to newly emerging consumer issues which
require new initiatives. One example is the price surge and
run on the stocks of infant formula products, allegedly caused
by a buying spree by Mainland visitors, which aroused great
public concern. It is, however, comforting to note through
the Council’s active efforts, a solution was found. Upon
our advice, the infant formula suppliers agreed to set up
special customer hotlines for arranging direct supply to local
residents with babies. They had also given assurance of
keeping sufficient stocks to meet local needs. As a result, the
number of complaints dropped drastically from 72 in March
2011 to around 10 each month during the second quarter of
2011.

Housing has always been among the top consumer concerns.
In response to rising community grievance about problematic
property sales practices and misrepresentation of information
in property transactions, the Council launched the Report on
“Building a Property Market Information Platform for Home
Purchasers” in July 2010. The Report contained a package of
recommendations to encourage the dissemination of reliable
and timely information in the first-hand private residential
property market. It was well received by both the community
and the Government. The Council was subsequently invited
to be represented on the Steering Committee on Regulation
of Sale of First-hand Residential Properties by Legislation,
set up by the Government to consider appropriate legislative
proposals and the mechanism to promote transparency in

property transactions.

The Council’s persistent efforts in promoting a cross-sector
Trade Practices Statute, subsequent to its February 2008
Report on “Fairness in the Marketplace for Consumers and
Business”, finally received positive policy response. The
Government has proposed extending the scope of the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance to cover services. We are glad to
note that, at the time of writing this Report, the Government

had further recommended that mandatory cooling-off periods
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be imposed for contracts of goods/services with duration
of not less than six months, so as to strengthen consumer

protection.

After years of advocating a cross-sector competition
law since the 1990s, the Council is pleased to see the
introduction of the Competition Bill by the Government.
Although there is still continuing heated debate about
the need for a competition statute within the Legislative
Council and the community, the Council considers that the
Bill signifies yet another step forward of the Government’s
commitment in fostering a fully competitive environment
and a fairer marketplace for the benefit of both consumers
and business. The Council has been playing an active role in
enhancing public understanding of this important legislation.
Last December, we organised a forum for small and medium
enterprises to solicit their views and to understand their
concerns. In addition, we have recently launched a website
on the Competition Bill, to serve as an online forum for
a healthy debate on the subject. Without minimising the
challenges ahead, even after a competition law is enacted,
the Council remains convinced that such enactment is critical
to the building of a strong and competitive economy in future
that allows Hong Kong to live up to its aspiration as a global

economic hub.

In closing, | wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to fellow
Council Members for their valuable contribution to Council
deliberations, and to all Council staff for their dedication and
hard work, which together enabled the Council to have such
a fruitful year. My sincere thanks also go to various external
stakeholders (in particular the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau, the Customs and Excise Department,
and the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department) as
well as the general public for their incessant support to the
work of the Council. Making Hong Kong one of the most

consumer-friendly cities is our collective goal!

Anthony Cheung
Chairman, Consumer Council
July 2011
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Membership of the Consumer Council

Chairperson Members

EE

Mr. William CHAN Che-kwong

Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung,
GBS, JP
RARAR  2EFES - ATHL

Vice-Chairperson
B EE

Prof. Ron HUI Shui-yuen
SRR

Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP
A HEREIRARED - KL

The Hon. Fred LI Wah-ming, SBS, JP
ZEPEE REAES AT

Ms. Irene YAU Oi-yuen
B

HEAZREBERAH

N

Mr. Chapman CHAN Chor-man Mr.Thomas CHENG
PRIt Wit

Y

Mr. Bankee KWAN Pak-hoo Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho
HEES =S REERE

Ms. Amanda LIU Lai-yun Mr. Stanley SZETO Chi-yan
B R RESICEE

Appointed on 3 May 2010
—F-ZFhRA=RE#E

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong
HREZ L
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Chief Executive

EECE S

Dr. Polly CHEUNG Suk-yee Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP Dr. David CHUNG Wai-keung
REEL 2EARE  REHE - ATHL EEmEL
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Ms. Connie LAU, JP
B+ KFEML

Mr. Wilfred LEE Yuen-kwong Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, JP D Ch. f E .
ERlkE AT TR BENSE KT eputy Chief Executive

BliEE

Ms. WONG Ka-chi Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai Prof. WONG Yung-hou Ms. Wendy LAM
IxELLT EREEE FEREHIR witsL
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Co-opted Members of the Consumer Council
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Mr. CHAN Ka-kui, BBS, JP Mr. John CHIU Chi-yeung Ms. Constance CHOY Hok-man Mr. Francis FONG Po-kiu
FRREDSEL - SHEFIEE - KL HEFESE ZETERE FRMEEE

Mr. Andrew FUNG Wai-kwong Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP Mr. Daniel C. LAM, BBS, JP Mr. Edmond LAM King-fung
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Dr. LAW Cheung-kwok Mr. Charles Peter MOK Ms. Bonnie NG Hoi-lam Dr. Matthew NG, JP
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Ms. Clara SHEK Dr. Michael TSUI Fuk-sun Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, JP Dr. Max WONG Wai-lun
ARExRt iR E BOWEGEED - KFMT TEMEL
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Management Team of the Consumer Council
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. Chief Executive, Ms. Connie LAU, JP
T B oge il N

. Deputy Chief Executive, Ms. Wendy LAM

:vué?g *ﬂm@ﬁi

. Principal Complaints & Advice Officer, Ms. Sana LAl

R RESEREEE  Balkt

. Head, Legal Affairs Division, Mr. Simon CHUI

FREBWEREM  HMRRELE

. Principal Research & Trade Practices Officer, Ms. Rosa WONG

MEREEFFEHMEEER  BERLE

. Head, Consumer Education Division, Mr. WONG Koon-shing

HEEHEMAEE  TEMELE

. Principal Public Affairs Officer, Ms. Clara LI

NHEBWEREE  TOERL

. Head, Administration & External Affairs Division, Mr. Joseph YOUNG

THRIVEEBER  BEEEE
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T MnAsH.
A Coerun comic

6. Giving a toast during the Gala Dinner.
BolrgE EiE -

7. Delegates from around the world taking part
in the discussions.

RETREMAHRRE ST
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. The Council was hosting the 19th Consumers International World Congress in

May 2011. There were over 700 consumer leaders and delegates from more than
80 countries and jurisdictions gathering in Hong Kong. During the Opening
Ceremony officiating guests were waking up the lions by dotting their eyes.
AEEIMETNEEFHEEHEENEE BRABBN\TERNHER
THZRARSZH - TREEEHER LAEMENE -

. The Honourable Donald Tsang, Chief Executive of Hong Kong, speaking at the

Opening Ceremony.

THREGBRELEEENGERER LHE -

. Mr. Samuel Ochieng, President of Consumers International, delivering the opening

remarks.

BIRCHEEME T REEMK T EEE -

. Mr. Yang Hon-can, Vice President and Secretary General of China Consumers'

Association, speaking at the plenary session on "Towards fair financial market".

HEHEEH SR ERFNERGIETEEIREN "ATe/mS, L&E-

. Council Chairman Professor Anthony Cheung chairing a plenary session on

consumer rights and corporate responsibility.

FEEIRRARBXTHARMHEEERAEAZHETEAR
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1. The Council organised a luncheon seminar on Competition Bill for small and medium
enterprises. Council Vice-Chairman Mr. Ambrose Ho speaking at the panel discussion.

AERH AT NEEMEFETENNE  BIEREAHREERIREHLES -

2. Deputy Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development, Mr. Gregory So, explaining
the essence of the bill. 0 HREZAN

B RSB RS SR N SR A BRI o e e

3&4

A delegation of the Council, led by the Chairman,
Professor Anthony Cheung, in a visit to Shanghai
consumer organisations and World Expo.
IREMRYREESLEERBED EiBR
EHHREEIR - h2BRHREEE -
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1. Mrs. Rita Lau, Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development,
guest of honour of the 10th Consumer Rights Reporting Awards prize
presentation ceremony, with gold awards winners.

£t ui‘ﬁ%%@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi_ﬁ’ e TREENBRCERRREIR
ERRRESREBREASE -

2. Mrs. Rita Lau, Professor Anthony Cheung and Ms. Connie Lau viewing
the winning entries.

ARBFERE  RARBIREZRA L THES

BB -

12

3. Vice-Chancellor of the Chinese University of Hong Kong, Professor
Joseph Sung, the officiating guest of the 11th Consumer Culture
Study Awards prize presentation ceremony, listening to the
briefing of a winning team.
ERPNAERENB IR REE+—
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4. The Council's Consumer Culture Study Awards was held at
Shantou University for the first time. Secretary General of China
Consumers' Association and representatives of a number of
consumer organisations from Guangdong Province attended the
prize presentation ceremony and seminar.
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1. Winners of the Top Ten Consumer News for the Year of
Tiger competition and representatives of the annual
event co-organisers posing for a group photo at the prize
presentation.
REFTRHEREDRRERE - SEPHECREGRAS

B o
i

2. Mr. Ambrose Ho, the spokesperson for the Working Group
on Consumer Issues relating to Residential Property, calling
for a new regime of information dissemination to the public
in respect of the private residential property market.
FEMEREEMBLMEMETE MR EER IS
S EENAARBRMAETEDETEOE

3. Ms. Connie Lau at a signing ceremony with Macau and
Jiangsu Province on the mutual agreement in consumer
protection.
ARPBRERARAGRTIHRERAFTHEERERES
BITANRBE -

“

_:1 éD =i 4’E ’er 1%

2010-11 HBEEESBER 13



w AN

14

1. Representatives from Commerce and Economic Development
Bureau attending Council’s meeting.

BHEREERRARREGAGHEEE -

2,384

Mr. Ambrose Ho, Chairman of Publicity and Community Relations
Committee, Professor Ron Hui, Vice-Chairman and committee
member Mr. Philip Leung, presiding over the monthly press
conferences on CHOICE publication.
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1. Deputy Mayor of Beijing, Ms. Cheng Hong, visiting the Council.
FREIMRELLHIRAE o
2. Visitors from Consumers Korea.

HEHEERHSEIAETR

3. Students from Shantou University visiting the Council.
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4, Ms. Connie Lau, Chief Executive, holding an
interflow session with delegates from Beijing
Administration for Industry and Commerce.
EERTIETHEARIEAERN SRS
WL t@nAgIE-

5. Ms. Connie Lau accepting the invitation to be the
honoree of the Beta Gamma Sigma HKUST Chapter.

BRBEAMHEERZASBeta Gamma Sigma
NEZREEE -
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The Consumer Council

HE AR

The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in
1974. Pursuant to the Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap
216), the Council’s functions are to protect and promote the
interests of consumers of goods and services and purchasers,

mortgagors and lessees of immovable property by:

a. collecting, receiving and disseminating information
concerning goods and services and immovable property;

b. receiving and examining complaints and giving advice
to consumers of goods and services and purchasers,
mortgagors and lessees of immovable property;

c. taking such action as it thinks justified by information in its
possession, including tendering advice to the Government
or to any public officer;

d. encouraging business and professional associations to
establish codes of practice to regulate the activities of their
members; and

e. undertaking such other functions as the Council may
adopt with the prior approval of the Chief Executive in

Council.

Membership of the Council

The Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Members are all
appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR for a term of
service not exceeding two years. They may be reappointed

upon expiry of their respective terms of office.

In the year under review, Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong joined
the Council. A list of the Council Members is at Appendix 1.

Council and Committees

The Council meets bi-monthly. Committees and working
groups are set up to examine specific areas of consumer
concern. The Council invites from time to time appropriate
professionals of relevant disciplines as co-opted members in

order to benefit from their expertise.

In the year under review, the Council set up a Working
Group on Competition Bill to advise the Council on its views
on the Competition Bill as well as related publicity campaigns
and lobbying work. A list of Committees/Working Groups

and their members is at Appendix 3.
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The Council Office

The Council Office, headed by the Chief Executive, has an
establishment of 132 staff with about 16% operating from
the Council’s Consumer Advice Centres in various districts of
the territory and the Consumer Council Resource Centre in

Tsimshatsui.

The Complaints and Advice Division and the North Point
Consumer Advice Centre are situated in Room 1410, 14/F,
Kodak House II, 39 Healthy Street, North Point.

With dedicated Government funding, a Project Office operates
in the same building as the Council Head Office in North Point

to house the project team for price surveillance initiatives.

In the year under review, special funding was provided by the
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau for creation
of four temporary posts for three years in order to cope with

the heavy workload.

The Council Office operates with six functional divisions,
namely the Administration and External Affairs Division,
Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer Education
Division, Legal Affairs Division, Public Affairs Division,
Research and Trade Practices Division. The organisation chart

of the Council Office is at Appendix 4.

The Consumer Council is an equal opportunities employer
who operates with due emphasis on sustainable development
issues in support of environmental protection. In 2010-11,
the number of disabled employees represented 1% of the

Council Office’s permanent establishment.

The 19th Consumers International World
Congress 2011

During the year under review the Council, as a co-host
with Consumers International (Cl), was fully engaged in the
planning and organisation work in preparation for the 19th
Consumers International World Congress which had been
held in Hong Kong on 3-6 May 2011.

Working closely with CI Office in London, the Council set up
a special task force on ClI World Congress 2011 chaired by
the Council Chairman to spearhead the implementation of a
large amount of preparatory work for what was expected to

be the largest Cl World Congress ever held.
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At the time of writing this Annual Report 2010-2011, the
Congress was successfully inaugurated and concluded, drawing
over 700 delegates and speakers from consumer organisations
around the world, as well as trade and industries, academics,
governments, NGOs and the media from over 80 countries /

jurisdictions. Truly a world class event.

Highlights of the Congress entitled “Empowering Tomorrow’s
Consumers” included: keynote addresses by Ms. Connie
HEDEGAARD, European Union Commissioner for Climate
Action, on the consumers’ role in the future green economy;
and by Mr. James GUEST, CEO of Consumers Union of
United States, on consumer financial services campaign.
The Hon Donald TSANG, GBM, Chief Executive and Mr.
Gregory SO, JP, the then Acting Secretary for Commerce and
Economic Development, attended the Opening Ceremony
and the Welcome Cocktail Reception respectively as the

officiating guests.

The Council had the distinction of playing host to the World
Congress, held every four years, for the second time in 20
years after it last co-hosted the World Congress in 1991. The
Congress owed its gratitude to the support and assistance of
the Government and organisations including the Hong Kong
Tourism Board, Hong Kong Airport Authority, Hong Kong
Immigration Department and Hong Kong Customs and Excise
Department in such hospitality aspects as sponsorship of
tours and cultural displays, meet and greet services at arrivals,

and speedy issuance of visas to overseas delegates.

The Congress was considered a resounding success and
won wide acclaims particularly on its hospitality and
organisation, during and subsequent to the various events,

from participants all over the world.

Finance
The Council derives its income mainly from Government
subvention. Other sources of income (about 6%) include

proceeds from the sale of the Council’s publications.

The Auditors’ Report and financial statements for the

Council’s accounts are at Appendix 5.
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Forestalling & Mediating Disputes
between Consumers and Businesses

VAL B alt] 85 1 6 5 B

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumer satisfaction is important to the marketplace. To
address consumers’ concern speedily and effectively, the
Council offers convenient channels for consumers to make
enquiries and complaints. Apart from calling our hotline
(Tel no: 2929 2222) or visiting our seven Consumer Advice
Centers in person during office hours, consumers can contact
us through our website, by post or fax around the clock.
Council staff is well-trained to provide pre-shopping advice
and help mediate disputes to bring about overall consumer

satisfaction.

Benefits derived from complaints handling

- resolving disputes between consumers and traders by
mutually acceptable resolutions;

- empowering consumers through dissemination of
information concerning goods and services;

- alerting the public of the trend of complaints relating to
malpractices in the marketplace and formulating strategies
to tackle them;

- improving trade practices by co-operation and coordination
with law-enforcement authorities and trade associations to
strengthen consumer protection; and

- enhancing consumers awareness of their rights

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Serving Consumers

In 2010 -11, we received

- 113 935 consumer enquiries (87% by telephone)

- 28 914 cases of complaints (44% in writing/through internet)

Mediating Consumer Complaints

A dedicated team of Complaints Officers is responsible for
handling consumer complaints and mediating the disputes
between the consumers and the traders in order to resolve

the complaints to consumers’ satisfaction.
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Complaints received: 28 914 cases

Consumer complaints dropped 7% in 2010-11, or a reduction
of 2 293 cases, from a total of 31 207 in 2009-10 to 28 914 in
2010-11.

Telecommunications services (8 470 cases)

Though on a downward trend (-10%), telecommunications
services remained the top category of complaints. Over 50%
of the cases involved bill disputes arising from mobile phone
service plans, internet service contracts, roaming and mobile
data charges. Complaints about service quality (e.g. slow
transmission or connection failure) also account for 29 % of

the cases.

Telecommunication Equipment (2 057 cases)
Complaints related to telecommunication equipment (2 057

cases) increased 49% when compared to 1 378 cases in
2009-10. The sharp rise was probably caused by the launch
of new models of smart phone in the second half of the year
where complaints about late delivery of product jumped up
17 times from 23 cases last year to 394 cases in 2010-11.
Moreover, 59% of the complaints (1 212 cases) were related

to quality, repair and maintenance of mobile phone sets.

Broadcasting Services (1 781 cases)
Complaints in broadcasting services, mainly pay TV, rose

12% this year, where almost 60% of them pointed to the

sales practices and disputes over charges.

Recreation/ Health Clubs (961 cases)

There was a significant increase of 58% in complaints
concerning health & yoga clubs (961 cases), compared to
that of 2009-10 (608 cases). The successive closure of yoga
centres was the main cause to the rise. Complaints about
high-pressure sales tactics and fee disputes of some fitness

clubs remained to be areas of concern.
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Tourist Complaints: 2 168 cases

Tourist complaints have increased 19% from previous year

while the total visitors arriving Hong Kong rose 21.8% from

2009 to 2010.

Most of the complaints involved price disputes in relation
to camera and lens, video camera, mobile phones, and

watch and jewelry, which are the popular items on tourists’

shopping list.

Outcome

In 2010-11, the Council helped solve 81% of cases with

pursuable grounds:

Total number of complaints received 28 914

Cases with pursuable grounds 23 002
Cases in progress 5 604
Cases resolved 14 146
Resolution rate 81.3%

Foods & Entertainment Services 52 F2 12 %4 - 842
Clothing & Apparel ZX&ffi 899
Foods & Drinks @ &A% [N 93
Recreation/Health Clubs (25 & - 961
Computer Products B4 T - 1269
Furniture & Fixtures R & 2E{& _ 1330
Electrical Appliances 23 F % _ 1687
Broadcasting Services &R _ 1781
Telecommunication Equipment @831 & _ 2057

Telecommunication Services AR _ 8470
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Free Gifts/Discounted Goods

Nature of
Consumer Complaints

HEERHRIEE

As the Council is not a regulatory body, it may not always
be able to persuade the traders to settle the complaints even
though the Council considers the cases to be justifiable. On
those justifiable occasions where traders refused to settle
or provide solution to the dispute, Council staff suggested
the complainants to file claims against the traders at the
Small Claims Tribunal or the courts whenever appropriate.
Consumers were also advised of other avenues in applicable

cases.

Overview

Closing down of businesses

The successive closure of yoga centres in 2010-11 has
intensified the problem of prepayment consumption in
service industry. Without any prior notice, a large number of
club members were shut out from the yoga centres with very

slim chance of recovering their loss in fees paid.

Consumers are advised once again to be careful when paying
in advance for the purchase of services. It is prudent to pay

per time or to pay as small an amount in advance as possible.
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In anticipation of the proposed new legislation to enhance
protection for consumers against unfair trade practices, it is
hoped that consumer interests in prepaid consumptions like
health club membership and beauty services can be further
fortified.

Consumer Alerts

A notable reduction of cases concerning complaints in
relation to time sharing scheme was recorded, with a drop
of 70% to 72 cases in 2010-11, compared with 237 cases
in 2009-10. Complaints against beauty services (794 cases),
chargeable SMS (211 cases), TV set-top boxes (55 cases)
have also dropped significantly this year. The joint efforts
of the Council and Hong Kong Police Force in alerting the
consumers against undesirable sales activities attributed
to the decline. The Council believes that public education
together with actions taken by regulatory authorities proved

to be effective in combating misconducts in trade.
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Advocating Best Practice and
Competition in the Marketplace

ek 28 70 T 0 B

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

In a market-based economy such as Hong Kong, the
Council has a role to play in ensuring that best practice
and competition in the marketplace bring desired effects
of consumer satisfaction and economic efficiency, thereby
benefiting consumer welfare — with lower prices, more

choices and higher quality of products and services.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

The Council undertakes research and study on various
aspects of marketplace behaviour to identify matters of
concern to consumers as well as to encourage responsible
trade practices and fair competition. The following major

work was performed during the year under review.

Residential Property Report

The Council released a report entitled “Building a Property
Market Information Platform for Home Purchasers”, calling
for the creation of a centralised online “Property Market
Information Platform” (PMIP), to enhance the flow of reliable
and timely information in the first-hand private residential

property market in Hong Kong.

In the report, the Council put forward a package of nine
recommendations covering several specific problems as
identified in its field studies of some residential development
projects, namely the absence of comprehensive information
source, information disseminated varied in degrees of
reliability, and high pressure sales tactics creating anxiety and

confusion to prospective purchasers.

The recommendations were aimed to improve the following

aspects:

- clear guidelines on pre-launch activities (such as the release
of non-official “intentional prices” and “private sales”) of
first-hand properties;

- removing impediments (such as imposing onerous
registration and appointment procedures) to viewing of

show flats;
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- controls over unreliable and deceptive representations
(such as distributing unauthorised promotional materials to
prospective purchasers); and

- provision of timely, complete and useful property
information (such as current transaction prices and unit

availability) to prospective purchasers.

The Government has responded positively to the Council’s

report.

The Council is glad that the Government has set up a Steering
Committee and Subcommittees on Regulation of Sale of First-
hand Residential Properties by Legislation and invited the
Council to participate in these committees to provide views

for enhancing the protection of home buyers.

Sharing of Mortgage Data for Credit
Assessment

The Council submitted its views concerning a consultation
document issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data (PCPD) on sharing of mortgage data for

credit assessment in Hong Kong.

In the submission, the Council raised a list of issues that the
industry and the regulators would need to address in order to
provide the general public a complete and fair evaluation of
the proposal of greater sharing of mortgage data. In brief, the

Council’s views were:

- concerns over data concentration and that the credit
database will be a lucrative source of marketing
information;

- justifications be needed for inclusion of additional types of
mortgage data for general credit assessment;

- public assurance be given to address public concerns about
opening up the floodgate that the coverage of the data
sharing would progressively extend to more mortgage data;

- implication of mortgage count on consumer credit scoring;

- prior explicit notification and consent-based approach be
given to consumers for pre-existing mortgage data to be
contributed to the credit reference agency;

- clarification as to the circumstances in which the credit
providers can have immediate access and use of mortgage
data during the transitional period; and

- explanation of consumer benefits in more explicit terms to
demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposal in bringing

benefits to consumers.
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For better protection of consumers’ privacy interests, the
Council recommended additional implementation safeguards,
namely disclosure of audit compliance results, provision of
free consumer credit report, and allowing consumers to post

dispute statement in consumer credit report, be imposed.

Independent Insurance Authority

The Council responded to a consultation paper issued by
the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau (FSTB) on
the proposed establishment of an Independent Insurance
Authority (IIA) in Hong Kong.

The Council has long urged that a review of the regulatory
arrangements for the insurance industry should be carried
out. As such, the Council is glad that the Government has
taken on board its views on the need to change the existing
self-regulatory mechanism for the insurance industry by
formulating proposals on establishing an IlIA to regulate
insurers and insurance intermediaries and protect the

interests of insurance policyholders.

The Council was of the view that having an independent
statutory body to assume direct supervisory and disciplinary
roles over the insurance industry could be more objective

and impartial.

With regard to the expanded role of lIA, the Council supports
the enhancement of consumer financial capability by giving
the IIA an explicit role in proactively educating the public
about insurance matters, in addition to directly supervising
the conduct of insurance intermediaries. The IIA should
also address public concern about the reasonableness of
insurance premium increases and the suitability of high
risk and complicated insurance products on offer to the

consuming public.

In determining the appropriate funding arrangement, the
Council does not support having policyholders directly
pay the levy. The Council was of the view that the cost of
regulation should be borne by the insurance industry as part
of its operational cost, instead of shifting regulatory cost to

policyholders.

With Hong Kong as an international financial centre, the
Council considered that strengthening the protection of
policyholders was a task to be given priority and urged the
Government to speed up the establishment of IIA especially

in light of rising insurance complaints.
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Investor Education Council and Financial
Dispute Resolution Centre

The Council gave views to the Financial Services and the
Treasury Bureau (FSTB) concerning a consultation document
on the proposed establishment of an Investor Education
Council (IEC) and a Financial Dispute Resolution Centre
(FDRCQ).

In light of increasing offers of complex financial products
and services by various types of financial institutions
across the financial sectors, the Council welcomed that
the establishment of the proposed IEC to enhance public
understanding of different forms of financial products and

services across the financial spectrum.

With respect to the institutional set-up of the proposed
IEC, the Council considered that setting up an independent
statutory body, with funding from relevant financial regulators
and the Government, may avoid potential prejudice to the
impartiality of the IEC or the misconception that it will tilt
towards Securities and Futures Commission (SFC)-regulated

products and services if it is to be under the SFC.

As regards the proposed FDRC, the Council welcomed
the proposed establishment to provide consumers with
an additional channel to resolve their complaints relating
to financial products and services. For the benefit and
protection of consumer interests, the Council was of the
view that the services to be provided by the FDRC should be

effective, efficient but not costly.

With respect to the proposed carving out approach of
handling monetary disputes, the Council was concerned
if this would provide adequate protection to consumers or
meet their needs, considering that many of the complaints
received by the Council were related to sales practice and
service quality which were not necessarily linked to disputes
of monetary nature to start with, or provided by financial
service providers regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority or the SFC.

The Council therefore recommended that the scope of the
financial dispute resolution scheme should be reviewed
regularly to check on the appropriateness of its scope. The
Council welcomes that the Government has committed to

carry out review in future.
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Health Protection Scheme

The Council provided views in response to a consultation
document issued by the Food and Health Bureau (FHB)
regarding the introduction of a voluntary Health Protection
Scheme (HPS).

In previous submission, the Council expressed the need for
the Government to take some form of regulatory control on
healthcare services and health insurance as an inseparable
component of any policy that would move more population
to the health insurance market. The Council is glad to note
the Government'’s launch of the second stage healthcare
reform with proposals on introduction of a voluntary and

government-regulated HPS.

The Council believed that some of the HPS features would
help address health insurance problems faced by consumers.
The Council provided the following comments in relation
to the proposed HPS, with a view to protecting consumer

interests in healthcare services and health insurance.

- oversee the reasonableness of subsequent premium
adjustment and consumers’ affordability to keep up with
health insurance premium in the long run;

- out-patient services should be included as core items under
the HPS to ensure adequate benefit coverage and limits for
the HPS plans in meeting consumer needs;

- premium schedules be published for public information
and sales practices be regulated regarding Standard Plans
and other HPS plans (top-ups);

- assist those most in need of healthcare protection to have
easier access to healthcare services, through lowering the
entry barriers to the HPS;

- facilitate the choice of healthcare insurance under the
HPS by constructing a website, listing for comparison
information (including protection coverage and premiums)
on all HPS plans;

- introduce other modes of premium discounts as the
provision of the “No-Claim Discount” may constitute a
disincentive for consumers to seek medical treatment;

- include supportive measures to facilitate employers’
migration of their existing health insurance to the HPS, and
introduce appropriate safeguards to prevent employers
from reducing employee medical benefits; and

- quality assurance and performance benchmarks be in place
for assessment of healthcare service quality and package

charging, for ensuring value-for-money service.
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Forum on Competition Law and Policy
The Council’s Chief Executive is a member of the

Government’s Competition Policy Advisory Group.

[n fulfilling its statutory role of tendering advice to the
Government, the Council organised a forum for small and
medium enterprises in December 2010 to solicit their views
and concerns about the Government'’s public consultation on
the proposed Competition Bill. Over 120 participants from

different industries and trade associations attended the forum.

Competition Bill 2010

The Council supports the enactment of the Competition Bill
being discussed by the Bills Committee of the Legislative
Council at the time of writing this report. The Bill aims to
prohibit and deter undertakings in all sectors from adopting
anti-competitive conduct which has the object or effect of
preventing, restricting or distorting competition in Hong

Kong.

The Council agrees that the general prohibition approach
adopted for the Conduct Rules in the Bill is appropriate
for a cross-sector competition law. The Council notes a
concern, particularly among the business communities,
that not prescribing the conduct which would constitute
anti-competitive conduct could lead to uncertainty to the
industries. The Council however considers that the general
prohibition approach would offer great flexibility to cater for
the circumstances of different sectors and changing business
practices. The Council believes that uncertainty could be
tackled by the future Competition Commission by way of

regulatory guidelines.

The Council launched a series of activities to arouse public
interest and attention towards the Bill. The activities included
producing and distributing flyers in Chinese and English, and
organising seminars and talk to engage small and medium
size enterprises and reaching out to consumers through the
media for them to understand and support the legislation to

safeguard and foster competition in the marketplace.
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Other Studies

The Council responded throughout the year to a number of
requests from industries and consumers to look into a range
of issues affecting consumers in the marketplace. Those
issues included pricing practices of auto-diesel and the

exclusive practices of private hospitals.

Responses to Consultation Papers

In addition to the above, the Council also commented on
consultation papers released by the Government and others
bodies on matters affecting the interests of consumers. A list

of the submissions can be found at Appendix 6.
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Ensuring Product Quality and Safety

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

The Council conducts tests on consumer products to provide
unbiased comparative test results for consumers to make
rational choices, to alert them to product hazards and to
induce improvements in product quality and safety. Major
test items include safety, performance, ease of use, durability

and environmental sustainability for most products.

Media coverage of testing results reach not only consumers
in Hong Kong, but the neighbouring regions in the Mainland,
as well as overseas Chinese who have access to Hong Kong's

broadcast and printed news.

That explains why the Council’s product testing reports are
well sought after by consumers while at times received with
mixed feelings by traders, depending on the ratings of their
products in comparison with those of their competitors. This
has in turn become an impetus for traders to improve their

product and service quality.

HOW THIS IS DONE

There are three different types of tests, firstly, those which
are initiated and solely conducted with the Council’s own
resources. Most of these tests are conducted by accredited
and independent laboratories in Hong Kong. In case local
testing facilities do not meet the Council’s requirements,
appropriate overseas laboratories will be commissioned.
Secondly, joint tests conducted by International Consumer
Research and Testing (ICRT), an international consortium
of more than 45 independent consumer organisations
worldwide. As an active member, the Council has benefited
from ICRT’s joint tests through which utilisation of resources
can be maximised and experience shared. Otherwise, the
Council could not have provided Hong Kong consumers
with latest test findings of short product life cycle products
such as digital cameras and mobile phones regularly. Thirdly,
the Council also actively co-operates with various local
Government/statutory organisations. It should be noted that
all test samples were sourced from reliable outlets in the

market.
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WHAT WE HAVE DONE

In the year under review, 43 product testing reports were
published in CHOICE. Findings in a number of tests
indicated that not all products fully complied with relevant
standards, e.g. International Electrotechnical Commission
(IEC) standards, Mainland’s Hygiene Standard for Cosmetics.
Based on the findings, the Council notified the government
regulatory bodies for follow-up action, and made proposals
to the manufacturers and agents for product improvement.
Over the years, the Council’s product testing has proved to
be an effective mechanism in enhancing quality and safety of

products. A list of the tests conducted is at Appendix 8.

HIGHLIGHTS OF TESTS

Electrical Products

Varied life span of compact fluorescent lamps
Long life is the selling point of compact fluorescent lamps
(CFLs). The Council conducted a 10 000 hours life test on
CFLs in collaboration with the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department. The test covered 20 models of 12
brands. The test results showed that while the average life
span of 18 CFL models exceeds 10 000 hours, the average
life span of one model was only 6 058 hours, a shortfall of
about 4 000 hours (39%) than its claimed life span of 10 000

hours.

The actual life span among 20 tested samples of the same
model varied and the discrepancy could be as high as 8 000
hours. There is much room for improvement for the quality of

some CFL models.

First ever safety test on bathroom heaters
The Consumer Council tested five ceramic fan heaters and

10 bathroom heaters of price range from $199 to $3,780
on their safety and convenience of use. The safety test
results of only three models were considered satisfactory
with none or little deviation from the international safety
standard. Plastic materials of six models were found to be
of insufficient resistance to heat/flame, while others showed
inadequacy in maintaining sufficient insulation distances
and wiring connection. Two bathroom heaters claimed to be
water resistant failed in the tests on protection against water
ingress. The Council reminded consumers intending to use
heaters in the bathroom to choose a heater that meets the
water resistance requirement and install the heater at a safe

distance from the bathtub or water basin.
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Energy label information checked in air
conditioners

The Council tested 15 models of window-type room air
conditioners with claimed cooling capacity of 2.05 kW to
2.17 kW. It was found that the model with the lowest price
turned out to be one of the better performers. The test items
included cooling capacity, energy efficiency, noise level, ease
of use, enclosure sweat and condensate disposal. On cooling
capacity, nine samples were found to fall slightly below
their own claim with the largest discrepancy at 6.8%. On
energy efficiency, all but two samples were found to qualify
for the top Grade one rating under the Energy Efficiency
Labelling Scheme of the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department (EMSD). The two exceptions would be qualified
for Grade two rating only according to the Council’s test

results. Test results were forwarded to EMSD for follow-up.

Higher price does not translate into better

performance of iDTV
The test of integrated digital TV (iDTV) covered 20 models

marketed under different makes. All samples were of the
most popular 32” screen size, with price ranging from $3,990
to $7,000. They were compared for their performance on
picture quality, sound quality, ease of use, versatility, special

feature and energy efficiency.

Results showed that one sample had serious screen reflection
problem. Motion pictures were also found to be unsmooth
in 18 samples. And sound quality was less than satisfactory in

more than half of the samples.

The test also revealed that some samples were unable to
switch to true standby mode if the timer recording function
was being used. When timer recording was set, the standby
power consumption was as high as 15 to 31 watt. Five
samples even failed to switch to true standby after recording
was finished, resulting in unnecessary wastage of energy.

Such design had lots of room for improvement.

Judging from the overall test results, higher price did not

translate into better performance of the samples.
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Food

High levels of acrylamide found
in potato chips

In the second test for acrylamide
conducted jointly by the Council and
the Centre for Food Safety, a total of 90
samples over a diverse range of fried
and baked snacks — crispy snacks (35),
fried and baked potatoes (10), biscuits (39), breakfast cereals
(6) were put to the test. With the exception of one sample,
all tested samples were found to contain varying levels of
acrylamide. One sample of potato chips was found to contain
3 000 pg of acrylamide per kg of the snack, the highest level

ever detected in food products covered in local studies.

Animal testing found that acrylamide increases the incidences
of tumors in various organs and tissues. It is classified as
"probably carcinogenic to humans” by the International

Agency for Research on Cancer.

Acrylamide in food is formed unintentionally during
processing and its level is affected by various conditions. In
general, food that is rich in carbohydrates, crispy and thin
tends to contain a higher level of acrylamide after being
cooked at high temperatures. JECFA (Joint FAO/WHO Expert
Committee on Food Additives) concludes that it is not
possible to make a recommendation on how much of any
specific food containing the substance is safe to eat. The only
recommendation they provide is that exposure to acrylamide
should be “as low as reasonably achievable”. In Hong Kong,
there is no specific regulation governing the acrylamide level

in food.

Personal Care
Choose safety shoes carefully for better

protection of feet
Wearing a pair of suitable safety shoes can effectively reduce

the risk of foot injuries associated with mechanical hazards at
workplace, especially on construction sites. In a joint test by
the Council and the Occupational Safety and Health Council,
a total of 12 models of safety shoes were tested for their
performances. Seven of them claimed to be in compliance
with safety shoes standard. In general, samples that claimed
to be complying with stipulated standard were found to have
better overall performance than those without such claims.
On the ability to protect against mechanical hazards, three
samples passed all the tests including impact resistance and

compression resistance of toecap, and penetration resistance
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of sole, while four samples failed to pass any of the tests,
among them one claimed to be in compliance of safety shoes
standard. The Council had passed the relevant test findings
to the Customs and Excise Department for follow up. On slip
resistance, although results of the tests showed that most of
the samples passed the test on ceramic tile floor, only two
were found to pass also the test on steel floor. Useful tips and
guidance in the choice of safety shoes were included in the

report.

Baby shampoos and bath products

The Council tested 50 samples of shampoos and
bath products marketed specifically for use by babies
and children. Two baby bath products were found to
contain excessive level of bacteria, one had bacterial
count reaching a high 30 000 CFU/g, while another
had 7 300 CFU/g.

According to the Mainland’s Hygienic Standard for
Cosmetics, the safety limit of aerobic bacterial count
for children's cosmetics is a maximum level of 500
CFU/g. Excessive level of bacteria could result in

higher risk of infection.

While 11 samples were found to contain trace
amount of 1, 4-dioxane and four samples with free
formaldehyde, the level of contamination was within the

standard or recommended safety limit.

Labelling the product with expiry dates enable consumers to
use the products in a timely manner. However, our inspection
of the labels revealed that only six samples were labelled with
both the expiry dates and period after opening. Suppliers
were urged to label their products clearly to safeguard the

interests of consumers.

Toxic chemicals found in nail polishes
The Council tested 42 models of nail polishes and base

coats for the presence and quantities of heavy metals (lead,
mercury and arsenic), phthalates and selected organic
compounds. Toxic chemicals and cancer-causing substances
such as methanol and benzene were found in some models

of nail polishes.
Heavy metal content in all models was found in compliance

with the limits specified in the Mainland’s Hygienic Standard

for Cosmetics. Benzene, a cancer-causing substance, was
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detected in four models with concentration ranging
from 9.7 ppm to 260 ppm. One of the four models also
contained 41 000 ppm of methanol, nearly 20 times
higher than the limit (2 000 ppm) specified in the
Mainland standard.

DEHP, one of the phthalates which is
prohibited for use in cosmetics in the Mainland and EU, was
detected in one model with a concentration level of 10 ppm.
Some animal studies showed that certain phthalates at high
levels might produce endocrine-disrupting effects and cause
birth defects.

Furthermore, a tested model was found with 27% toluene
which exceeded the 25% limit set in the Cosmetic Directive
in the European Union and 0.03% of methyl methacrylate
(MMA) was detected in one tested model. Due to the
concern over allergic effects, MMA is an organic compound

which Health Canada advises not to use in nail cosmetics.

The test revealed that nail polishes may contain potentially
harmful ingredients. To minimise the health risk, the Council

recommended that nail polishes should be used properly.

International Comparative Tests

During the year under review, the Council also joined
forces with consumer associations overseas and stepped
up its collaborations with ICRT to conduct international

comparative tests, including those on:

- Audio-visual and optical products — Blu-ray disc players,
pocket camcorders, digital camcorders, digital compact
cameras, digital photo frames, interchangeable lens
cameras, MP3 and PMP players, MP3 speakers.

- Computer and telecommunications products — e-book
readers, external hard disks, internet security software,
mobile phone handsets, mobile phone handsets for the
elderly, printers.

- Automobile and related products — child car seats.

- Battery products — NiMH rechargeable batteries.

Among them, test reports on digital products, e.g. digital
cameras and mobile phone handsets, were very popular
among CHOICE readers.
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In-depth Reports on Products and Health
Issues

Apart from product tests, studies were also carried out on
a wide range of consumer products to provide consumer
information and, in some cases, to verify certain product

claims.

The lists of product study reports and regular columns

published during the year are set out in Appendix 9.

It pays to read the nutrition label of prepackaged
foods for healthier choice
The new Nutrition Labelling Scheme came into force on 1

July 2010. All applicable prepackaged food products were
required to provide nutrition labels with contents of energy
plus seven specified nutrients, namely protein, total fat,

saturated fat, trans fat, carbohydrates, sugars and sodium.

In order to publicise the Scheme and educate the public
regarding the application of the information provided on
nutrition label to make healthier food choices, the Council
and the Centre for Food Safety joined together and conducted
a series of surveys on the nutrient contents as labelled on
nutrition labels among various types of prepackaged food

products between March and July 2010.

In the series, four types of prepackaged food products were
studied: instant noodles (48 models), canned meat and fish
(42 models), crispy snacks (32 models) and breakfast cereals
(38 models). Results of the surveys, published in the CHOICE

magazine, captured wide attention of the public.

The surveys found that the nutrient contents among different
models of similar type of food products might vary a lot. For
instance, for 100 g of instant noodle product, the range of
sodium, total fat and saturated fat contents among 48 models
were found to be 834 mg - 5800 mg, 0 g-305¢g 0g-
12.2 g respectively. Consumers are therefore advised to read

the nutrition labels for a healthier choice.

Child protection features in washing machines
In view of the potential children drowning risks posed by

some washing machines, the Council studied the child
protection design of 10 models of washers and washer-
dryers. Models of both drum type and impeller type priced
from $2,780 to $7,689 were included. It was found that the

drum type models were equipped with an automatic door
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lock, a safety feature whereby the door / lid of the washer is
securely locked and cannot be opened in any way while in
operation - until the washing cycle is completed. For impeller
type washers, users need to switch on the child protection
mode to provide the “beep” sound and stop running feature
or “beep-and-drain-later” feature upon opening of the lid.
The Council urged parents to take good care of their young
children when washing clothes and always activate the child

protection features of the washers.

Health ornaments
The Council examined an array of health ornaments on the

market that had claimed to have beneficial effect on human
health. Test reports were collected from suppliers and

manufacturers for study by medical and science experts.

In one case, despite the product claimed to contain
germanium with effects of stabilising the flow of
electric current inside the bodies and guarding against
electromagnetic radiation, the report submitted by the
supplier showed that the element was “not detected”. The
case was forwarded to the Customs and Excise Department

for follow-up actions.

In another case, a bangle presented as a product emitting
negative ions was shown to contain a radioactive substance
named thorium in the test report provided by the supplier.
There were concerns over whether the radioactivity content

of the product is within safety limits.

Various claims that these accessories are able to improve
health and alleviate pain were judged as lack support of

scientific research by the expert panel.

Products with dubious nanotechnology claims
The Council alerted consumers to guard against dubious

health claims made by so-called “nano cup” products.

In one case, the promotional materials alleged that the cups
were embedded with nanomaterial that could break clusters
of molecules in water poured into it. It was claimed that the
water would be more “active”, and easily absorbed by the
body resulting in “biological effects” of benefit to health.
However, experts opined that for water in liquid or solid
states, its molecules form clusters of variable sizes through
hydrogen bonding, and all pure water would produce the

same biological effects.
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In another case, the promotional materials claimed that the
water inside nano cups bears very strong energy and contains
plenty of negative oxygen ions as reflected by the 1770-NMR
(Nuclear Magnetic Resonance) result. Nevertheless, experts
pointed out that the strength and amount of hydrogen
bonding among water molecules does not imply any

mysterious energy in the water.

Nanotechnology’s applications in the manufacture of various
consumer products in clothing, sports, medicines and

cosmetics were also introduced to consumers.

Beware of liquid fuel hand warmers

Warm pads and hand warmers are popular in chilly weather.
The Council conducted a study on these products and
alerted consumers of the potential hazards in using them, in

particular the liquid fuel hand warmers.

To operate a liquid fuel hand warmer, it has to be filled with
lighter fluid and then ignited at the catalytic burner unit. The

working process was actually combustion of the liquid fuel.

Fire hazard could occur due to leakage or the use of
inappropriate fuel, carbon monoxide could also be released
during operation. In a confined area, high concentration of
carbon monoxide could be life threatening. Moreover, its
metal case was found to reach a temperature exceeding 70°C

while the top could reach up to 100°C while in operation.

As there were apparently loopholes in the relevant regulations
in monitoring the safety of these products, suppliers were
urged to provide appropriate warning label on the metal case
of the liquid fuel hand warmer. The Council advised not to

let children or the elderly use such products on their own.

International Exchange
The Council pays special attention to the movement of unsafe

products into Hong Kong and will request suppliers to recall
any such products as appropriate. Through communication
with other consumer organisations and foreign authorities,
the Council receives a constant flow of information about

unsafe products found outside Hong Kong.
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Collecting Market Information on
Services and Products

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Hong Kong has developed into a service-oriented economy
and consumers need information on a wide range of services.
The Council conducts opinion surveys, market surveys and
price surveys to collect information on services for the benefit

of consumers.

Furthermore, the Council has, for many years, collected
on a regular and systematic basis the prices of supermarket
products and textbooks which are necessary goods for
consumers, in order to monitor long term trends and identify

issues of concern, if any, arising therefrom.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Finance and Banking

Credit card rates up despite low bank rates

The Council conducted an annual survey on credit card
rates and charges which covered 21 banks and financial
institutions. It was found that interest rates were on the rise
despite a low interest rate environment. Half of financial
institutions (11 or 52.4%) were charging an annualised interest
rate (APR) of 30% or above for consumers who carried a card
debt. There was an increase compared to the Council’s 2006
findings when only three (13.6%) out of 22 providers were
charging a rate of that level. The survey also showed that
credit card holders were charged an APR of 8.41% to 36.07%
for retail purchases and would have to pay a rate between
20.62% and 37.49% for cash advances. If consumers who
failed to pay the minimum payment on time, the financial
charges would be augmented further. The default charges
for retail purchases could be as high as 47.09% while cash
advance charge would range from 20.62% to 47.09%. In the
survey, consumers were advised to watch out for the fees and
charges. If in need of cash turnover, they could consider to

apply for personal loan or cash conversion programs.

Credit card spending for mileage redemption may

vary as much as four fold
The Council conducted a survey in Travel Rewards Program

offered by 14 card issuers, which enabled credit card holders
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to convert spending to mileage in 15 airline programs. The
study showed that the local spending required may vary as
much as from HK$3 to HK$16.6 per mile. And for the four
card issuers that offered higher flight rewards for overseas
spending, the cost ranged from HK$3 to HK$5.33 a mile. It
was found that the variation between different cards in credit

card spending for redeeming a flight ticket could make a

large difference amounting to tens of thousands of dollars. In

the survey, consumers were offered tips on joining a credit
card Travel Rewards Program. These include:

- Consider the factor of airlines when choosing a
programme: such as which airlines are available for
selection; whether the airlines you regularly patronised are
included; and whether it provides an extensive network of
airlines.

- Think twice before converting the credit card bonus points
to mileage as the conversion is irreversible while the

transaction fee is often non-refundable.

Costs and risks of tax loan not to be overlooked

as interest rates dip
The Council conducted an annual survey on tax loans which

covered 20 banks and financial institutions. The survey with
21 tax loan schemes showed that the APRs had further come
down to the range of 1.75% to 9.76% this year, compared
with 1.92% to 10.28% last year. For instance, at $10,000 loan
the range in APR varied from 1.78% to 9.76%, compared with
3.28% to 10.28% in 2009 (down 1.57% on average); and at
$500,000 tax loan range from 1.75% to 5.29%, 0.58% down
on average when compared to last year. The rates were the
lowest in six years. The Council’s studies since 2005 showed
that the APRs for tax loans varied from the lowest of 1.75%
this year to the highest at 17.21% in 2008. In the survey,
consumers were suggested to shop around and compare the

interest rate in terms of APRs for the best possible deal.

Daily Living

Textbook prices and expenditure surveys

There were mild increases in the average prices of textbooks
this year, of 0.3% and 0.6% respectively for primary and
secondary school textbooks, revealed by the annual price
survey of school textbooks conducted by the Council. As to
the expenditure on textbooks, the Council found on average
parents had to spend 0.2% and 6.9% more respectively
on textbooks for their children studying in primary and
secondary classes. Survey results showed that the average

spending on textbooks for Senior Secondary 2 students under

2010-1T HEEZESFR

BEUR{TE B I A5 7 5 E0I1E
AEHFR T IMER FHEBIRMN "TRITHRER
I, HBESERTFEIMNEBREEA - AERER
BAF-RITEEMENARMERIRE ARESER
B3 ER=BE16.67T - M IUER MBI R IRIRE
RN THE S EMNRRIERHBEITE
B HE5.337T - MM S IRFIRE— R R RNRERFZ
BRI AR AEH BB ATH TN AEE
BRWSINRBR BRI AR TAIER
- EERARREABIRENRITAEREEE

lHil*H

Blanzt &I A WM ZE AR AR E B RIEW
MZEARREBEERN FENRITRERGERZ
&

- SHEEERRTESRIVEEZRBEEQERIIR

TEBAAERXERIZRFNIKRSA MKRETF
BEN AR

HEEBOMTH EERESEEX
AEEE20BBITRMBARMNR B EHKTE
Er HEBR2VERBERE BRSFNER
FREHGEI. TSN ERI.76%  BEF1.92%F
10.28% & {& » LB L 10,000 T B E BB - BRRE
RRNF1.78%F9.76% » HWt —FFHERI3.28%
%10.28% T H1.57% ; IUEE 500,000
T BERERNKRRITO%ES.29%  REFNTHE
0.58% B/NFELIRIFE - IREBHEGB ST hF

DI RN E RS SRBEER BINERFA X

HOFEREMNLT5%E TR\ FREHN17.21% 38

ENEFHBEEREER GH=50 W E ARSI/

BERFANRELLEMEEREENRE -

HE&EE

HHZHE BIHRBEEEADA
FENFEARZERATES SFHNEE

REM A NEHENEE T L70.3% 2RI
710.6% - BEENTE AL BRI TIRG KRARIL
BNEMNTREBENEEN0.2% MASENKRK
RIZAZ(46.9% - AELERBSEF PR T > &
CHRBENTHREE LA EERFTARE
FEEE EFY50.9% EERARMUESINEE
MEBL LHNPANREBEE TAORE  WHLE

41



42

the New Senior Secondary (NSS) academic structure had
risen by 50.9% when compared to their counterpart (Form
5 students under the old curriculum) for the last academic
year. It was believed the difference was due to the fact that in
the past, Form 5 students needed to buy fewer textbooks as
most of the textbooks required for the Hong Kong Certificate
of Education Examination (HKCEE) were bought in Form
4. Moreover, since the new curriculum has condensed the
original four years’ course into three years, there was increase
in pages as well as volumes of textbooks. The establishment
of elective parts in certain subjects under NSS, prescribing
additional volumes and hence raising the textbook bill, was

believed to be reason for the increase.

Moderation seen in upward trend of price

movements at major supermarkets in 2009
In the year under report, the Council continued its annual

supermarket price survey on scan data of a basket of 200
items of commodities sold in three supermarket chains. The
aggregate average price of the basket increased by 3% in
2009 compared to 2008. The findings showed that amongst
the 12 categories of products, the prices for two categories,
namely hot drinks and alcoholic drinks fell by 0.1% and 7%
in average prices respectively when compared to 2008. On
the other hand, prices for the 10 remaining categories were
up, ranging from 0.8% to 8.4%. They included milk powder/
baby products & food, dairy food/yogurt drinks, candies/
snacks, paper/household cleaning, non-staple food/sauces,
personal care products, bread/cakes, staple food, beverages,

and canned food/prepacked soup.

Price increase of infant formula milk higher than

food price inflation rate
The Council has conducted bimonthly regular surveys on

price of infant formulas since April 2009, where Council staff
collects price data of eight major brands (33 models) of infant
formula at 14 designated retail shops all over Hong Kong. The
year-on-year average price comparison of 33 items of infant
formulas (prices for April 2009 to February 2010 compared
to those for April 2010 to February 2011) showed that 31
of them had increased their average retail prices, with the
increase ranging from 0.4% to 12%. Of these, 24 products
registered an increase in price higher than the food price

inflation rate. And the average price increase of 5 products

recorded a hike of more than 10%. Significant price variations

were found with the same formula milk sold in different

shops. In the February 2011 survey, a price difference of $58.9,
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or 43% was noted in one of the surveyed formula milk sold

in different shops.

Availability of infant formula is another concern. The out-of-
stock rate of one formula milk surveyed was found to be 93%
in December last year and 64% in February this year while
that for another brand of infant formula was found to be 71%

and 46% respectively for the same time.

In the past few years, there were many instances of people
scrambling for infant formulas from shops. Through the
Council’s efforts, the formula suppliers have agreed to supply
direct the infant formulas to local babies. At the time of
writing the report, the number of complaints against infant
formulas dropped from the height of 72 cases in March to
around 10 each month during the second quarter of 2011. In
the longer term, the formula suppliers have to consider setting
up an industry code of practice to ensure adequate supply to
local consumers for retailers to follow. Suppliers might resort
to drastic measures such as suspending the supply to retail
shops which ignore public interest and raise unreasonably

the price of infant formulas.

Council issues 2-step advice to consumers in

purchase of columbarium service
The issue with unauthorised columbarium was rightly of

concern to consumers eager to ascertain the columbarium
service being provided was in compliance with the relevant
legislation and land lease. The Council believed that the
problem stemmed from a chronic shortage of supply of
columbarium niches, falling far short of the demand in
the market. In the long run, the Government was urged to
increase the supply of public columbarium niches, and to

consider regulations governing the sales of private niches.

To assist consumers, the Council published a report in April
2010 and issued a 2-step advice to consumers in purchase
of columbarium service with the aid of Government bureaux
and departments concerned. Consumers were strongly urged
to check out the legality of the niches before purchase and
to ask the columbarium operators to show that the operation
conformed to the statutory plans and the relevant lease
restrictions. Furthermore, consumers were advised to asked
the sellers to incorporate terms of warranty into the contract
to ensure the operation of the columbarium is in legal
compliance, and arrangements for rescission of agreement,
refund or compensation should it turn out later that they are

in breach of the required planning or lease conditions.
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Storage & therapies for umbilical cord blood &

stem cell: efficacy and effectiveness in question
In a study that collated the views of both physicians and

biological scientists on storage and therapies related to
umbilical cord blood and stem cells, the Council advised
consumers to think twice on whether it is worth spending
money on a service which could be of little use in the future
and of which the claims are yet to be clinically proven.
Private stem cell banks offer to extract stem cells from adult
peripheral blood, fat and children’s deciduous teeth which
could be stored for future medical purposes. Though the
storage of stem cells is viable, the arguments for the use
and need of stem cell storage may need stronger support as
experts have pointed out that currently only a few diseases
are clinically proven to be successfully cured through stem

cell treatment.

Umbilical cord blood, a rich source of haematopoetic
stem cells, is collected at the time of a child’s birth for the
donor’s own treatment for diseases developed later in life.
Cord blood transplant, where a transplant is performed to
reconstitute the patient’s blood supply and immune system
after chemotherapy and radiation treatment, is mainly
used in treating blood-related and immunological diseases.
However, the odds for autologous cord blood transplant are
small. The Council also sought experts’ inputs on treatments
that claimed to utilise stem cells for cosmetic purposes.
Consumers were alerted to seek scientific verification and
pay attention to the stem cell collection and processing

procedures.

Are mobile emergency alarm systems reliable in
summoning timely help?

The year 2010 saw the utilisation of mobile technology
on the life-saving personal emergency alarm systems. Yet,
the services thus marketed were not without limitations. A
market survey conducted by the Council on these systems
revealed several issues such as the possibility that mobile
handsets installed with an emergency button might not be
able to pinpoint the user’s exact location, thus the support
centre unable to track down the user if the person had lost
consciousness and was unable to communicate with the
centre. Another type of phone which could send distress
message to five pre-set phone numbers might draw a total
blank if the calls were not answered or reached voice mail
boxes. The Council was also concerned about blind spots of

mobile coverage as there were areas with no or weak mobile
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coverage, as any undue delay in an emergency could mean a
difference between life and death especially in a severe case.
The report also alerted consumers on the sales practices of
certain indoor personal emergency alarm systems service

providers.

Call to introduce supply of 95-octane petrol in
Hong Kong

The Council urged oil companies to introduce supply of
unleaded petrol of a lower octane number (95) for the choice
of motorists. Since 1992, only a more costly petrol of octane
number 98 was available in the market. The Council had
put forward the recommendation following the Council's
survey which showed that about 61% of car models (337
out of 550 models) on the market could use, for optimal
efficiency, petrol of octane number 95. Most European or
Japanese cars of wide popularity here were in fact required
to use only 95-octane petrol. Some vehicles including vans
required petrol as low as 88 to 93 in octane number. The
models that needed to use 98-octane petrol were mainly
high-end sports cars. The Council’s survey data was based on
the recommended octane number requirement of car models
marketed by 24 major car importers of 32 brands in total.
Consumers were advised that in the opinion of experts, using
petrol of the minimum octane number as recommended by
the car makers is sufficient. Fuel saving tips were included in

the report.

Survey showed smartphones more prone to fault
In this survey 1 610 respondents shared their experience in

using mobile handsets, audio-visual players / recorders, digital
cameras, and handheld digital camcorders. The fault rates
and aggregated opinion on whether the consumers would
buy products of the same brand were listed for consumers’
reference. The extended warranty plans actively marketed
by certain retailers were also discussed. Consumers were
reminded in certain scenarios, it might not be “worthwhile”
to join these extended warranty schemes, for examples if the
product was developed long time ago, chances were that
the sole agents might not be able to repair it or there was no
product of similar function to be replaced. Consumers were
also reminded to read carefully the terms and conditions of
the plans before joining, and to consider carefully whether
claiming the maintenance fee from a third party might give

rise to other issues and delays.

2010-1T HEEZESFR

1EFE5IE 95 I B #E T4 T

AREEFH ARSI AF L EBRIEOS) ML -
FEIRELEEZE -B-ANTHE THLRHER
SENEFREODEEAH AREULEER
HRERASAS  BRENSHEN A MERREH
61%6(550FRHPRI33TF)E L A ISF Ll M thAlE
R B REMERE - KEBARBRITHBUMF B AR
BHEAME RIS FRENAMR —EAEREREHA
R EEEEESSEI3 - ARISFERENR
MNEERSRME - ARG LAMNRAEBIRIKE24
BEEABEAABRENI2EREFTRENEREE
Ko AGSMERER  IEHAEFEAREATERNE
B¥RENSHEERH - RETBEB M THEE
EBE

TR HREFHERFES

RAAEER 610ROBEDZ THMEER
FIRERE R BUSARK - FIRBISE SN
EAEER - |MEFI TRETERNBRERAFPE
ERBERNEERFSEEEER—ETHFREER"
WHRSN BT EBEN LT RRATE REHES
FEEBIER T 5 LT R A EIRMMER 290 Filan
HERHERLE NEEABEERREMEESIREEAM
mENMDENERATHER RENRBEHEEES
INRIEAIB AR BRI RS WNVOEEZBHNA
X HEERASESIRERNE AR -

45



46

Price survey initiatives
The Consumer Council continued to enhance price

transparency of food, daily necessities and auto fuel through

various price surveillance initiatives.

The Council launched its wet market price survey in 2008
and commenced the monthly wet market food price index
in September 2009. Apart from tracking the price levels of
44 wet markets throughout the 18 districts of Hong Kong for
a same basket of 26 fresh produce, the survey also provided
sub-indexes of 4 major categories of food items: meat
(including pork, beef and poultry), fish (including salt-water
and fresh-water fish), fresh vegetables and fruits for monthly
comparison. For better allocation of resources, the wet
market survey and the relevant price index was discontinued
in November 2010.

The Council continued to conduct its weekly price surveys
and closely monitored a basket of 40 fast consuming goods
and commodities at different retail outlets, including major
supermarket chains, personal care chains, drugstores, grocery
stores, cosmetic stores, household goods chains, snacks
outlets and specialty stores. In mid November 2010, five fresh
food items from wet markets and major supermarket chains
were included in the survey for reference of consumers.
Results of the surveys were enhanced with various discount
analysis. Furthermore, observable trends found among outlets

and pricing abnormalities were analysed.

The Council has been collecting and displaying daily prices of
several hundreds of products from four on-line supermarkets.
In order to capture price and promotion changes launched
during a day, the Council’s Supermarket Pricewatch website
was upgraded in 2010 to reflect the price and promotion
changes recorded in the morning and in the afternoon. The
number of items monitored by the website was further raised
from about 600 in June 2009 to about 800 in January 2011.

In 2010-11, the Council continued the weekly price survey
on auto fuel as commissioned by the Environment Bureau.
Pump prices of gasoline and diesel and information on
promotional packages offered by the oil companies were
collected to enable consumers to make informed choices and
to enhance price transparency in the marketplace. Launch of
a smartphone application was underway to make the survey

results more handy to consumers.
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Disseminating Consumer Information

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Promoting consumer awareness through dissemination
of information is crucial to consumer protection and
empowerment. As consumers become better informed,
they will be better able to safeguard their interests against
undesirable trade practices and unsafe goods and services,
exercise rational choices, and contribute to sustainable
consumption. Towards this end, the Council is engaged in a
diverse range of activities aimed at disseminating consumer
information in a constant effort to strengthen consumer

awareness, and foster community support for its work.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE
Publication of CHOICE

Council’s monthly magazine CHOICE provides a regular outlet
of information, advice and viewpoints on all matters of interest
to consumers. CHOICE reports in a comprehensive format
the results and conclusion, with brandname information, of
comparative product testing, and service assessment through
surveys and in-depth studies. Regular columns of consumer
interest dealing with such issues as health and nutrition,
consumer complaints, hazardous products, environmental
concerns, drug safety, investor education, and issues of global

consumer concern are also included.

CHOICE does not accept any commercial advertising. In
addition to copyright protection, Section 20 of the Consumer
Council Ordinance strictly prohibits the exploitation of the
Council’s name or its research information for commercial
and promotional purposes. Section 20 is essential for
protecting the independence and impartiality of the Council
in its evaluation of goods and services available to consumers

in the market.

CHOICE has attracted immense media interest ever since
its debut in 1976. A press conference is held to launch the
publication of each and every issue of CHOICE, together
with the distribution of a press release in both English and
Chinese, and active assistance is also provided to meet media
requests for additional coverage of articles of specific interest

in all sectors of the media.
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CHOICE magazine in print is available to the general
public through sales of subscriptions and at retail outlets
covering newsstands, supermarkets, convenience stores and
bookshops throughout the territory. During the year 2010,
the overall combined sales averaged 26 842 copies per issue,

splitting quite evenly between subscriptions and retail sales.

Multi-media CHOICE

CHOICE has the distinction of being one of the first consumer
organisations to provide a diverse multi-media access for all
— from print to internet online, fixed-line and mobile phone

users.

In 2004, CHOICE started the online version in cooperation
with a major internet service provider through the website
(http://choice.yp.com.hk). CHOICE Online, a full PDF version
in both traditional and simplified Chinese, provides all of
the reports in each current edition and an archive of back
issues of CHOICE for access by all internet users, for viewing
on annual subscription or per issue or per report basis. The

demand for CHOICE Online has risen continually each year.

In 2006, a new service was inaugurated to embrace fixed-line
and mobile phone users. Through PCCW Fixed-line Network
and Mobile Services, consumers are able to access - literally
at their finger tip anytime and anywhere - a selected number
of mainly test and survey reports in CHOICE complete
with brandname information. To fit into the small format of
transmission, only an abridged text version of a maximum of
600 characters/spaces for each report is provided. For fixed-

line users, an audio version is also available.

Media Liaison

Media relations are actively fostered to advance the cause of
consumer empowerment and protection. The Council is in
daily contact with the mass media on all matters of consumer
interest. Regular press conferences, news releases, briefings
and interviews are arranged for all sectors of the media,
contributing significantly to the widespread dissemination
of consumer information and advice to the public. The role
the media can play is much valued by the Council. It helps
to heighten consumer awareness and understanding of the
diverse range of functions and activities the Council performs

in the protection and empowerment of consumers.
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A recent agreement has been made with Dow Jones &
Company Inc that Council’s press releases will be dissimilated
by its Factiva service. The Council information will be further
disseminated to nearly 1.6 million Factiva service subscribers

throughout the world.

Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

The annual Consumer Rights Reporting Awards has gained
increasing recognition of the news media as a coveted award
for professional excellence. This year’s Awards was the 11th
organised by the Consumer Council in association with the
Hong Kong Journalists Association (since 2000) and the
Hong Kong Press Photographers Association (since 2007). A
total of 178 entries were submitted for adjudication in the 5
categories of news (77), features (49), television (20), radio (15)
and press photo (17) covering a wide spectrum of issues of

consumer interest and concern.

The panel of adjudicators comprised: Professor Francis
LEE, Associate Professor, School of Journalism and
Communication, the Chinese University of Hong Kong; Mr.
TO Yiu Ming, Associate Professor, Department of Journalism,
Hong Kong Baptist University; Mr. CHEUNG Kin Bong,
Chairman, and Mr. LAM Chun Dung, Vice-Chairman, of
Hong Kong Press Photographers Association; Ms. MAK Yin
Ting, Chairperson, and Mr. Ambrose LEUNG, Vice-Chairman,
of Hong Kong Journalists Association; Professor Anthony
CHEUNG, Chairman, and Mr. Ambrose HO, Vice-Chairman,

of Consumer Council.

The winning entries of the five categories can be found in

Appendix 11.

Top Ten Consumer News

The public concern over the issue of personal data related
to Octopus cards and illegal columbarium niche were voted
the top stories in the Top Ten Consumer News election for
the Year of the Tiger. The event, in its seventh year, was
organised jointly by the Council in association with News
Channel of Hong Kong Cable Television, Radio Television
Hong Kong and Hong Kong Economic Times, with Fan, Chan

and Co. as the Honorary Auditor.

Members of the public were invited to select and vote for the
top 10 consumer news, out of a list of 20, which in their view
were uppermost on the mind of consumers during the Year of

the Tiger in Hong Kong. It drew a total of 2 259 voters who
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cast their votes online or in print entry forms in the second
half of January 2011. Full results and their vote count of the
Top 10 Consumer News of the Year of the Tiger, in their

sequence, are as follows:

1. Public concern over the sale of personal data by Octopus
Card company (2 137 votes)

2. Information of 81 columbarium niches unveiled with some
notable ones operated illegally (1 780 votes)

3. In-bound mainland tourists forced to shop by tour guides
(1 733 votes)

4. Consumer Council advocated property sales online
information platform (1 672 votes)

5. Government measures to cool down property market
included extra stamp duties (1 579 votes)

6. Buyer cancelled transaction of “super high” residential
block at Mid-level (1 374 votes)

7. Closure of three yoga centres within a year raised concern
of certain credit card instalment payment plans required
continued payment (1 343 votes)

8. Public consultation on voluntary health insurance scheme
with Government contribution of $50 billions to subsidise
policy premium (1 251 votes)

9. Consumer complained overseas roaming internet bill of
$80,000 (1 229 votes)

10.Concern over high management fee and low returns of
MPF (1 195 votes)

The Shopsmart Website

Launched in 2007, the Shopsmart website (www.consumer.
org.hk/shopsmart) dedicated specifically to enhance
consumer confidence and protection to Mainland visitors
shopping in Hong Kong. Available in both the traditional
and simplified Chinese versions, the website “i5B/BEEH
#5" offers an unique one-stop consumer service covering a
broad range of products and topics of interest and concern to
Mainland tourists. A main focus of the web is the provision
of practical shopping information on a number of categories
of goods most favoured by Mainland visitors. In terms of
the download frequencies, the top five most favourable
web content in the Year 2010-11 were shopping hints and
research reports of mobile phones, cosmetic products, digital

cameras, watches and infant milk formula.

Further, the web also features useful consumer-related issues

on, inter-alia, the differences in consumer culture and trade
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practices between Hong Kong and the Mainland, dining and
sightseeing, money exchange and transportation, consumer
safeguards and complaint channels, etc. It can be readily
accessed via an extensive network of hyperlinks with the
websites of consumer organisations in the Mainland, through
the co-operation and assistance of the China Consumers

Association (www.cca.org.cn).

During the year, the contents of the website were continually
updated and expanded — amongst others, a total of 19
“Consumer Alerts” and 16 abridged versions of CHOICE test
and survey reports of particular interest to Mainland visitors

were uploaded.

Besides hyperlinking the Shopsmart website with consumer
related bodies in the Mainland, the Council also conducted
online search marketing particularly at periods prior to the
annual three “golden weeks” of Labour Day, National Day
and Lunar Chinese New Year holidays, when large numbers
of Mainland tourists will visit Hong Kong. So far, up to the
end of March 2011, the cumulative hit rates of the website

reached more than 80 million.

Council’s website: access to all

The Council’s official website has taken the initiatives to cater
for the needs of underprivileged groups. Hearing impaired
consumers are now able to get access to the information of
Supermarket Price Watch and Auto Fuel Price Calculator
on Council’s website through a 3G handset. By calling two
designated hotlines (6777 0102 and 6777 5122) with a 3G
handset, consumers will be shown the real time information
of the two price comparing sites. The service is provided

jointly with Hong Kong Lutheran Social Service.

The Council is also planning to carry out web page
enhancement to accommodate the need of visually impaired

consumers.

In the 2010 Meritorious Websites Contest, Council’s website
was chosen by the professional adjudication panel for
special recommendation as healthy website for the riches
and diversity of its content. Council’s website not only offers
useful information to consumers, but also provides good
reference to teachers. The web content is now available on
Education City portal as teaching resources for teachers in

Hong Kong.
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World Consumer Rights Day

The theme of this year’s World Consumer Rights Day (WCRD)
which falls on March 15 every year, is “Consumers for fair
financial services”. The campaign called for safe and fair
financial services for all consumers. The WCRD drive was
spearheaded by the Consumers International (Cl) working
with its members to build an international picture of the
experience of consumer organisations and consumers in the

area of financial services.

In support of the campaign, the Council conducted an online
survey collecting consumers’ views and opinions on the

services of their banks and areas for improvement.

Results showed to “give greater protection to clients’ personal
information / data” came out as the priority for banks as it
ranked top of a list of areas for improvement, considered

measures by more than 70% of the respondents.

Two other areas of improvement most wanted by consumers
were “enhancing fee transparency (including giving details
of fee waiver policy)” (70.1%) and “providing better manned
services (e.g. convenient branch locations, shortened queuing
time)” (65.98%).

A majority of respondents (65%) indicated satisfaction
with their bank services, but only 60% of these “satisfied”
consumers would recommend their banks to friends and

relatives.
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Empowering Consumers through Education
AFEWEE — iR & H TR ERE )

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Great importance is attached to the Council’s consumer
empowerment objective of which consumer education forms
an integral part. Through a systematic programme for various
target groups, participants acquired the necessary skills and
know-how of rational consumption. Their awareness of the
rights and responsibilities of being consumers was heightened

as a result.

The Council has provided support to other organisations
and educational institutes to enable them to run their own
consumer education programmes. Tailor-made activities are
designed to cater for three major target groups — namely
young people, senior citizens and new immigrants. The latter
two groups are more vulnerable to trade malpractices and in

need of guidance.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

During the year, 216 educational talks, visits, workshops and
seminars were organised for the above three target groups,
as well as other interested parties such as teachers, parents,
women and disadvantaged groups. Popular themes included
consumer rights and responsibilities, consumer protection
laws, consumer traps, sustainable consumption, consumer
guides on health and safety issues as well as the purchase
and subscription of telecommunications services, to meet the

needs and concerns of the public.

The Council has also organised the Consumer Culture Study
Award as well as teacher training programmes to promote
consumer education in schools. In addition, the Council has
been actively involved in promoting consumer education
contents to be incorporated in local formal school curricula
with great success. Council staff has worked closely with
the Education Bureau (EDB) in the design and development
of such curricula to enhance the effective delivery of
knowledge and concepts pertaining to consumer education
in various related subjects in Technology & Business, Social
& Humanities key learning areas as well as Liberal Studies
and moral and civic education, in primary and secondary

schools.
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Education resource materials were also produced to facilitate
trainers to conduct consumer education programmes on their

own.

Several pilot programmes were launched during the year to
explore opportunities and feasibilities in effective delivery of
consumer education to better serve emerging needs as well
as the needs of different sectors within the community. These
included education programmes and training courses for
local third age persons and university students in Mainland
China.

Staff training programmes and sharing sessions were also
conducted for our Mainland and local counterparts to share
experiences in designing and organising effective consumer
education programmes in general and the Consumer Culture

Study Award in particular.

These programmes were held both in the Consumer
Council Resource Centre as well as local schools and other
community centers to meet demands from different sectors

of the society.

Enhancing Youth Awareness in Consumer
Rights

Consumer Culture Study Award

The Award, jointly organised with the Education Bureau (EDB)
for the twelfth consecutive year, is the largest and most well-
received territory-wide project-based learning programme
designed for local secondary schools. Participants have
to study a particular aspect of our local consumer culture,
exploring the consumer attitudes, values and behaviours
in Hong Kong. Over the years, the Award has generated a
fruitful collection of over 7 400 study reports based on first-
hand data collected by students, and in turn, helped enrich

the archives of studies on local consumer culture.

The finale of the 11th Study Award was marked by the Award
Presentation Ceremony held on 27 July 2010 at Academic
Community Hall of Hong Kong Baptist University. Officiated
by Professor Joseph J.Y. SUNG, Vice-Chancellor of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and attended by 800
guests, the Ceremony presented 52 awards to the 38 winning
teams, with seven major winning teams presented the major

findings of their reports in various creative formats.
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The 12th Study Award was launched in September 2010.
A record high of 1 192 teams from 118 secondary schools
took part in this year’s Award, a 23% increase in the number
of participating teams. Amongst the participating schools,
18 schools joined for the first time with 75% of last year’s
schools continued in their participation this year. 98% of the
participating teams successfully completed their studies. A list

of the winners is at Appendix 12.

Introductory talks on consumer issues and how to conduct
the study were organised for teachers and students, attracting
about 1 000 participants to such sessions. It was through
these talks and the subsequent active engagement of
students in conducting the study that their understanding and
awareness of consumer issues were enhanced and analytical

ability strengthened.

112 workshops covering 25 thematic topics were organised
for over 8 000 teachers and students as an extension activity
of the Study Award. These workshops aimed at stimulating
creativity, arousing interest on issues like consumer
responsibilities, care and concern of the environment as well
as exposing participants to concepts and skills in conducting

and presenting consumer culture studies.

The Consumer Education Division was also invited to conduct
School Workshop Days as a support and learning initiative for
participating schools of the Study Award. A team of workshop
hosts would conduct four to five different workshops in
each session, providing chances of different exposure for the
200-strong students studying in the same form in a day’s visit
for each school. School Workshop Days were conducted for

16 schools in the year with positive response.

Consultation sessions conducted by division staff was a
newly introduced support initiative to teachers and students
to help improve their project ideas and skills aiming to further
improve the quality of the project studies. 18 sessions were

held in the year.

The Study Award celebrated its tenth anniversary in 2009.
Apart from the publications of collected essays as well as
outstanding student projects, staff training programmes for
our Mainland sister organisations and universities were also
conducted to share the unique experience gained throughout
the ten years in developing the Award into an effective

consumer education initiative.
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Pilot projects were launched in the year to extend the
experiences of the Study Award in engaging local third age
persons and Mainland students in conducting consumer

culture studies as an empowerment initiative.

Youth Development Service Scheme
The Youth Development Service Scheme aims to provide

an opportunity for the trained youth volunteer leaders
learning more about consumer issues through involvement
in Council’s activities. Provided with comprehensive training
and practice opportunities, these youth leaders took up
tasks, such as presentations to community groups and
production of educational materials, independently. They are
also actively involved in the running of various events and

projects of the Consumer Education Division.

Currently, over 30 secondary students and university
undergraduates are involved in the Scheme, with new

recruits joining each year.

The First Consumer Culture Study Award in
Mainland

A pilot programme to explore the feasibilities in organising
similar programmes for Mainland students were launched
in September 2009 in Shantou University. With the support
from the Law School and Veritas College, Shantou University,
about 100 students enrolled in the programme to receive
training pertaining to issues, concepts and skills in conducting
consumer culture studies. 12 teams submitted their project

reports in May 2010 with four teams winning various awards.

An Award Presentation Ceremony was held on 6 November
2010 at Shantou University. Mr. YANG Hong-can, Secretary-
General of China Consumers’ Association together with
Professor LI Dan, Vice President of the University and
Council’s Chief Executive, Ms. Connie LAU officiated the

Ceremony.

320 guests attended the Ceremony. Among them included
over 40 delegates from consumer associations from

Guangdong province and Macau.
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Education Programmes for Vulnerable
Groups

For Senior Citizens

50 programmes were delivered to the senior citizens
through joint efforts with social and community services
organisations. Programmes were tailored to meet the special

needs and consumption patterns of the senior citizens.

The programmes were mainly on health and safety concerns
in selecting and consuming products and services related
to this particular cohort. These included health food and
equipment, household appliances and dried seafood.
Precautions from falling into common consumer traps
including subscribing telecommunication services and
contractual obligations in different payment methods were

also popular topics.

Third Age Persons Consumer Culture Study
Award

Based on the experience on the pilot program held last year
and upon the requests from other social services institutes,
a Consumer Culture Study Award for Third Age Persons
was launched in the summer of 2010 to engage more third
age persons in the understanding and analysis of the local

consumer culture.

The Award was co-organised with four social services

institutes and joined by 13 teams from seven organisations.

Planning meetings, focus groups, briefing sessions and
introductory talks were held before the official launch, while
about 30 tailor-made comprehensive training programmes
and consultation sessions were also conducted for the

participants of this Award.

11 teams submitted their study reports in March 2011
providing the community a better understanding of the views
and situations unique to third age persons in the consumption

process.

For New Immigrants
Regular programmes including visits and talks were also

conducted within the year for the new comers from
Mainland to familiarise them with local consumer protection
measures. Talks on employment traps were also arranged for
newly arrived women whom were most susceptible to those

malicious practices in question.
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Specially designed consumer education program was also
conducted for new immigrant children. The program aims to
familiarise the children with the Council’s work as well as the

local consumer culture and consumer protection measures.

For Disadvantaged Groups

Special education programmes have been developed to meet
special needs of those disadvantaged groups such as students
of mild-grade mental retardation and clients of the Hong

Kong Society for the Blind.

Train the Trainers

Community Involvement Service Scheme

Based on the successful experience of the Youth
Development Service Scheme, another service scheme
was also launched to involve interested women and third
aged volunteers. These volunteers would be provided with
systematic training on knowledge and skills in organising
and conducting effective consumer education programmes.
They would in return contribute their assistance in Council’s

education programmes and events.

Training Programmes for Teachers on Consumer

Education
Government's recent curricular reforms responded favorably

to the Council’s call for incorporating consumer education
in the wider school curriculum. Council staff have been
invited to contribute in the design of new curricula to
better incorporate consumer education concepts in school

teachings.

To meet the increasing demand, EDB had commissioned the
Council to design and host several Teacher Development
Courses such as the Teacher Development Course on
Consumer Education for Technology Education Teachers
in 2004-06; the Professional Development Programme for
Liberal Studies: NSS Independent Enquiry Studies in the LS
Curriculum in 2007; and in 2008 through 2010, Teacher
Development Courses on Learning and Teaching PSHE
KLA through The Consumer Education Perspective; as well
as the Teacher Professional Development Programme for
NSS Learning and Teaching Strategies for the Technology
and Living Curriculum Series: Action Planning for Quality

Learning and Teaching in 2010.
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Web-based Teacher Development Courses on
Learning and Teaching PSHE KLA through The

Consumer Education Perspective
A web-based training course for secondary schools teachers

on Learning and Teaching PSHE KLA (Personal, Social and
Humanities Education Key Learning Area) through Consumer
Perspective was designed to enhance the competence and
confidence of teachers in conducting consumer education in

schools throughout social and humanity subjects.

The 30-hour course trained 205 teachers in five batches
starting from January 2008 and successfully completed in
January 2010. Participants included those teachers in Liberal
Studies, Integrated Humanities, Economics, Business Studies

and Home Economics.

An Experience Sharing Session was organised in June 2010
for course graduates to share the experiences on assessing

student projects.

The feedbacks from the course participants were highly
favourable. They regarded the course as extremely reflective
and practical, rich in content, instrumental in teaching and
enabled a thorough and better understanding of the concepts

and skills in conducting consumer education in schools.

Upon the request of EDB, the course materials would be
further developed into teaching resources to support the

teaching of consumer education in various curricula.

Staff Training for School Teachers

The Division has been invited to conduct Staff Development
Programmes for teachers. This year, staff development
programmes were conducted for the Hong Kong Catholic
Diocesan Schools Council (Secondary School) and Liberal
Studies teachers of Shatin Pui Ying College in November
2010 and January 2011 respectively. Consultation sessions
were also held for schools especially on experience in

conducting effective project learning programmes.

Staff Exchange Activities
Experience sharing activities were also conducted for staff
of sister organisations from overseas and Mainland including

those from New Zealand, Beijing and Macau.
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Council’s Chief Executive and Head of Education Division
participated in the China Consumers’ Association’s National
Conference for Secretary-Generals on Working Plans for
Consumer Education held in Wuxi in October 2010. The
Conference was attended by over 50 secretary-generals
of consumer associations/councils from all the provinces
and major cities in Mainland to share views on the future

direction and strategies on consumer education.

Symposium on Consumer Education for Youth
The Symposium was held in conjunction with the Award

Presentation Ceremony for Consumer Culture Study Award
in Shantou University in November 2010. Keynote speakers
included Mr. YANG Hong-can, Secretary-General of China
Consumers’ Association; Professor LI Dan, Vice President
of the University and Council’s Chief Executive, Ms. Connie
LAU. Over 40 delegates from various consumer associations
in Guangdong province and Macau as well as academics
from Shantou University participated in sharing their
experiences and views in conducting effective consumer

education programmes for youths.

Teaching Resources Development

To assist trainers and teachers in conducting effective
consumer education programmes, new teaching materials
and tools are developed each year. Several teaching resources
kits were also published over the years. These include
coursewares, collections of teaching activities and workshop
games, collections of consumer culture study projects. Most
are commissioned by EDB and have been distributed freely

to schools and social service institutes.

Education Resources Kit on Project-based
Learning for PSHE at Secondary Level

The Resources Kit, published in 2009 was commissioned
by EDB. It aims to provide teachers with handy tools and
successful examples in the training and learning through

project studies in consumer culture.

The Kit comprised of three major winning student project
reports of the Seventh Consumer Culture Study Award as
exemplary projects, together with adjudicators’ views and
comments; project team members’ experience sharing; as
well as over 30 workshop exercises and learning activities to
demonstrate the Council’s unique experiences in enhancing

the teaching and learning of generic skills including but not
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limited to knowledge construction, creativity, critical thinking

as well as communication and presentation skills.

The Kit had been sent to all local secondary schools and
university libraries as well as education resource centres to

enrich the pool of teaching materials in consumer education.

Other Education Resources
The DVD-ROM containing the winning reports of Consumer

Culture Study Award XI was produced and distributed to all
secondary schools as a teaching resource. 3 000 copies were

made and sent in the year.

Other educational resources included teaching kits on
labelling and advertising, and a consumer education resource
kit for new immigrants. These were produced to meet the

need and demand of schools and community organisations.

Consumer Council Resource Centre

Located in Tsim Sha Tsui, the facilities of the Council’s
Resource Centre include a Consumer Advice Centre, a
multi-purpose conference room equipped with audio-visual
devices, and a resource library. Multimedia computers were
installed giving visitors” access to the Council’s web site and
educational resources. Workshops, seminars and talks were
held regularly in the Resource Centre. During the year, the
Resource Centre attracted over 1 500 visitors from over a

hundred community organisations and education institutes.
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Improving Legal Protection
JIN it 7 A R i O

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumers’ legal rights should be protected by law. We
kept abreast of developments in the law that may affect
consumers’ positions and welfare as users of goods and
services. Also we took all the initiative to improve and protect
consumers’ legal rights by submitting our views in that regard

to the Government and relevant bodies.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Regulation on the Property Management
Industry

The Council responded to the public consultation of
the Administration regarding regulation on the property

management industry.

The Council supported the proposal to establish a mandatory
licensing regime for the property management industry,
which could regulate the discipline, raise the professional

standard and promote the development of the industry.

It was agreed that the proposed regime should encompass
both the corporate and individual levels. It would be worth
considering, the Council opined, that the proposed regime
should take the form of multi-lier licensing, while noting that

the impact of which had yet to be assessed.

The Council opined that a transition period for the
introduction of the proposed regime was necessary for
the property management companies and practitioners to
prepare themselves for fulfilling the licensing requirements,
but should not take long. It further urged the Administration
to provide, in any event, incentives to property management

practitioners for professional self-development.

Submission on the Proposed Legislative

Amendments to Eradicate Pyramid Schemes
The Council welcomed the recommendation to expand the
existing prohibition under the Pyramid Selling Prohibition
Ordinance to cover pyramid selling schemes irrespective of
(i) whether or not the schemes involved the selling, licensing,
leasing, supply or provision of any goods, services, rights

or interest and (ii) whether or not these transactions were
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conducted by a participant, a scheme operator or any person

under such scheme.

Given that the social harms caused by the operation of the
schemes could be enormous, the Council supported the
proposal to increase the current maximum penalty under the
Ordinance. The Council also supported the recommendation
of making it an offence for participation in the schemes. It
appeared to the Council that the attributes of the proposed
participation offence were sufficiently specific and narrow to

prevent an innocent participant from being convicted.

Report on Public Consultation on Review

of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(“PDPO”)

The Council was pleased to find that the way forward
proposed by the Administration in the above Report were
substantially in line with the Council’s views made during
the public consultation. That said, the Council invited the
Administration to review some of its position enunciated in
the Report to afford even better personal data protection to

consumer under the PDPO.

The Council called for replacing the “opt-out” regime under
s.34 of PDPO with an “opt-in” regime for the use of personal
data for direct marketing purposes. Explicit consent of the
data subject should be obtained prior to any use of his/
her data for such purposes. It was submitted that an opt-
in regime would be more likely to represent a true consent
of consumer and generally more able to alleviate concerns
about deceptive practices. It would also be more effective in
addressing the problems arising from the use of personal data
in direct marketing, such as nuisance caused by unsolicited
calls. As a transitional arrangement before an opt-in regime
was put in place, a territory-wide central do-not-call
register might address the nuisances caused by unsolicited

telemarketing calls.

It was also submitted that sale and disclosure of personal data
without the consent of the data subject should be made an
offence. And, the consent referred to must be the opt-in one

given by the data subject explicitly.

The Council also sought clarification as to the legal
consequences of breaching the conditions for exemption
from Data Protection Principle 3 for Transfer of Personal Data

in Business Merger or Acquisition.
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It was the concern of the Council that the proposed voluntary
privacy breach notification system might not be adequate.
Therefore, as submitted, a mandatory requirement should
be imposed on data users to notify the affected individuals
as soon as possible whenever there was a security breach
which was likely to lead to or had led to leakage of personal
data, so as to enable them to take appropriate remedial or

precautionary steps.

As regards sensitive data such as biometric data, identity
card number, health-related record, the Council urged the
Administration to seriously consider taking forward the

proposal to introduce more stringent protection.

The Council is of the view that the proposal for making
repeated contravention a data protection principle on the
same facts an offence is not supported by justification and
should not be taken forward. Nevertheless, the Council
supported the proposal that heavier penalties should be

imposed on repeated non-compliance of enforcement notice.

While making no objection to the proposal that the Privacy
Commissioner be empowered to provide legal assistance to
aggrieved data subjects and conduct criminal investigation,
the Council reiterated its position that the Department of

Justice should remain to take charge of prosecution.

Submission on the Consultation Paper

on Legislation to Enhance Protection for
Consumers Against Unfair Trade Practices
The Council welcomed the recommendations made in
the said Consultation Paper which had to a large extent
responded positively to the Council’s Report entitled “Fairness
in the Marketplace for Consumers and Business” published in
2008.

While reiterating its call for introduction of a piece
of comprehensive legislation addressing unfair trade
practices, the Council understood that the proposed legal
reform which included extending the scope of the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance to cover services, conferring
concurrent jurisdictions to Telecommunications Authority
and Broadcasting Authority to enforce the proposed trade
practice provisions, and giving consumers a private right to
sue for contravention of those provisions would be a quick
and expedient approach to combat the unfair trade practices

that have aroused grave concerns.
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Nevertheless, the Council urged that unfair trade practices
regarding property transaction and unfair terms in standard
consumer contracts should not be overlooked. They should

be addressed duly through further legal reform.

It was submitted that the proposal of mandatory cooling-off
periods, though welcomed, was too narrow in scope. It was
confined only to the sale of timeshare rights and long-term
holiday product and the consumer transactions concluded
during unsolicited visits to consumer’s home or places of
work. The Council strongly suggested that the proposal
should be extended to consumer contracts with prepaid

arrangements.

At the time of writing this report, the Government revised
the proposal. It further proposed that mandatory cooling-
off periods be imposed on contracts, involving goods and/or
services with a duration of not less than six months, while the
two types of transactions covered by the original proposal
should remain to be subject to cooling-off arrangements

irrespective of their contract duration.

Submission on the Legal Practitioners
(Amendment) Bill 2010 - Limited Liability
Partnership for Legal Practice

Having expressed its views on the introduction of limited
liability partnership (“LLP”) for legal practice in Hong Kong
in the preceding year, the Council made submission on the
said Bill which provided for the introduction and regulation

of this new business model.

The Council reiterated that it would not oppose the
introduction of LLP for legal practice provided that consumer

interest would be sufficiently safeguarded.

Support was expressed for the proposed provision excluding
from the protection of limited liability a LLP partner who
knew or ought reasonably to have known of the default of
any other party at the time of its occurrence, and failed to
exercise reasonable diligence to prevent its occurrence.
The Council also welcomed the proposed provisions
preserving property of a LLP to meet its liabilities and limiting
the protection of limited liability to a partner who was a
member of a LLP when the claim arose and where the client
concerned knew or ought reasonably to have known that the

partnership was a LLP at that time.
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To facilitate a layman consumer to enforce his/her rights to
seek redress against a LLP, the Council suggested that a direct
and express provision clearly spelling out the liability of a LLP
should be embodied in the Bill.

The Council recognised that the Professional Indemnity
Scheme did render certain protection to consumer of a LLP in
certain circumstances. But the statutory indemnity limit might
not be adequate in view of the change of circumstances.
Therefore, the Council suggested that it should be reviewed

on a regular basis.

Report of the Working Group on Mediation

In response to the above Report, the Council expressed
support to the use of mediation in dispute resolution.
It proposed the ways it might promote awareness and
understanding of the general public regarding the role

mediation could play in resolving consumer complaints.

The Council noted that mediation had been applied to
certain types of disputes. Given the merits of mediation, the
Council supported the recommendation to organise pilot
schemes for other types of disputes which may be suitable
for mediation such as disputes in the workplace, land use and
re-development. It also shared the view of the Report that
promotion of mediation should be launched by a three-stage

approach with multi-pronged tasks.

It was appreciated that training and accreditation of mediators
supported by a robust disciplinary mechanism were the
keys to the assurance of the quality of mediation service. In
this regard, the Council submitted that a single mediation

accrediting body should be established.

A standardised Code of Conduct was also a means to assure
quality of mediation service. It should be widely promulgated

and enforced by a robust complaint and disciplinary process.

The Council also emphasised that transparency and
accessibility of information should be afforded to users of

mediation to help them make informed choice.

The proposal to establish a proper legal framework for
mediation was welcomed as it would provide a good
platform for further development of mediation in Hong Kong.
Nevertheless, the Council emphasised that such a legal
framework should not hamper the flexibility in the process of

mediation.
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Land Titles Ordinance

The Council submitted its views to the Land Registrar in
regard to the Law Society’s stance on the proposed changes
to the rectification and indemnity arrangements under the

Lands Titles Ordinance.

It was submitted that the mandatory rectification rule would
defeat the very purpose for which a title registration system
sought to achieve. Therefore, the Council supported the
mechanism of immediate indefeasibility with discretion being
given to the court in very limited circumstances to rectify the

register in favour of an innocent displaced owner.

In case the mandatory rectification rule was to be retained,
the Council agreed that there should be exceptions to the
rule. The Council gave its views on the three exceptions

proposed by the Administration.

As regards indemnity, the Council reiterated that it should
cover pre-conversion fraud. While the proposed cap of
HK$30 million was considered enough to cover most
consumer transactions, it was proposed that it should be

reviewed from time to time.
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Promoting Sustainable Consumption
B W] 3 48 TH

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

The Council promotes and supports sustainable consumption
through comparative product testing and dissemination
of information which enables consumers to make
environmentally friendly choices, and also encourages
them to help conservation of natural resources and waste

reduction.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

In comparative product testing, environmental parameters
such as energy efficiency, recyclability of products and
packaging materials, durability and emissions of volatile
organic compounds are often incorporated with a view to
informing consumers about the use of products and their
impacts on health and the environment. We also send
submissions to the Government to support initiatives in

establishing legislations for environmental protection.

Consumer Council Urges Manufacturers to
Remove Mercury and Cadmium from Single-
Use Batteries

Batteries are widely used in a variety of electrical devices.
Apart from their lifespan, consumers should also pay

attention to their heavy metals content.

The Council tested 40 models of AA and AAA size single-use

batteries comprising 22 alkaline and 18 zinc carbon models.

Though all alkaline models passed the heavy metals
requirement under the European Union (EU) directive on
environmental protection, excessive amount of mercury and
cadmium was detected in some of the zinc carbon models.
Mercury was found at seven times of the set limit in one
model while cadmium in another model was six times of the

set limit.

According to the EU directive, batteries should also bear
appropriate labelling information if they contain more than
0.004% lead content. It came out that the lead content in
all tested zinc carbon batteries exceeded the threshold.

However, some models did not carry the additional labelling.
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In Hong Kong, there is neither regulation on heavy metals
content nor recycling system for single-use batteries. Since
heavy metals may pollute the environment, the Council urged
manufacturers to remove heavy metals including mercury

and cadmium, in battery production to avoid pollution.

Call for Legislation to Protect Consumer
Interest in Organic Foods

While the market of organic products continued to grow, the
Council kept a watchful eye on organic products and offered

tips to consumers in a timely manner.

As organic foods cannot be identified by their appearance
or by chemical analysis of the products, consumers have
to rely solely on the certification of organic products. In
a study report on the subject, the Council supported calls
to introduce specific regulation governing the production,

certification and labelling of organic foods in Hong Kong.

As great price differences existed between organic food and
conventional food, the possibility of abusing organic claims
by the trade could not be ruled out. The Council’s study
report cited a case in which a vegetable stall owner pleaded
guilty to a charge under the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
of supplying vegetables that were falsely claimed to have

organic authentication in March 2010.

The report also cited a survey conducted by the Hong Kong
Organic Resource Centre in the same year, which showed
that only about 10% of the surveyed stalls (14 out of 149
stalls) in wet markets claiming to sell organic vegetables could

provide organic certifications.

Be Mindful of Skin Care Products Claimed

to be Organic or Natural
Skincare products marketed as “organic” or “natura

|//

are
attracting more and more consumers. The Council conducted
a study and urged consumers to find out how natural or

organic the products were.

Our inspection of the product labels discovered that some
products described as “organic” also contained petro-
chemicals and synthetic preservatives and might not be
as natural as one would expect. In addition, though some
products were claimed to be free of synthetic fragrances and
colorants, such claims could not be taken to mean that they

met organic standards or contained organic ingredients.
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Consumers were advised to choose skincare products with
consideration of one’s skin type, skin problems, seasonal
changes and personal expectation, and bear in mind that
natural and organic ingredients can also cause allergic

reaction.

Urge to Reduce Packaging and Electronic
Waste for Digital Camera

Digital camera has become one of the essential electronic
products for many people. The Council joined consumer
associations in Europe and published a research report on
the eco-design of 20 models of digital cameras. Most of
the packaging was considered oversized and the material

amounted to about 50% of the total weight.

The weight of the packaging was mainly due to objects other
than the camera, such as charger, cable, CD and instruction
manual. Manufacturers were urged to reduce packaging
and electronic waste by providing a USB cable for charging
instead of the traditional charger. Useful tips in protecting the

environment were also included in the report.

Environmentally Friendly Refrigerants for
Room Air Conditioners

To accelerate the phasing out of hydrochlorofluorocarbons
(HCFCs, which is an ozone depleting substance), the Ozone
Layer Protection (Products Containing Scheduled Substances)
(Import Banning) (Amendment) Regulation had come into

effect since 1 January 2010.

While most of the room air conditioners on the market
operated with the refrigerant R22 (a typical HCFC), the
import of such room air conditioners would be banned in
phases under the new regulation. The Council published
an article to advise consumers about the impact of the
regulation, and to urge consumers to choose room air

conditioners with no HCFCs.

Producer Responsibility Scheme for Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE)
The Council provided views in response to the Waste
Management Policy Group of the Environmental Protection
Department regarding its consultation on “A New Producer
Responsibility Scheme for Waste Electrical and Electronic

Equipment” ("Scheme”).
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We supported the introduction of a new producer
responsibility scheme that imposes shared responsibility by

various parties towards proper management of WEEE.

As WEEE contain hazardous components, apart from
recovery and recycling, measures and targets for reduction
of WEEE would be equally important. The Scheme was
suggested to review the scope of products to be managed
and extend the scope to also address the issue of WEEE

reduction.

To ensure efficiency and cost-effectiveness of WEEE
management, imposition of monitoring terms in the WEEE
management contractor tender would be necessary. All
stakeholders in WEEE production should be responsible for
some of the costs of the Scheme, with a fair charging method

and reasonable fee.

The WEEE system should be subject to overseeing,
enforcement and monitoring measures, and that the
Government might assist at the initial stage, both financially
and technically, for development of the recycling industry in

Hong Kong.

Green Housekeeping

At the Consumer Council Office, every endeavour has been
made to reduce energy and paper consumption through
minimising copying, reusing paper, electronic transfer of
information, the use of energy efficient and environmentally
friendly office equipment and refraining from the use of

materials which are harmful to the environment.
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Representing the Consumer Voice

HE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Everyone is a consumer. Our efforts to promote consumer
interests will become more effective when we work closely

with other partners and stakeholders locally and overseas.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Locally, we maintain close liaison with the Government
through the Commerce and Economic Development
Bureau (CEDB), which oversees consumer protection and
competition policy and from the envelope of which 94% of

our operating funds are derived.

Apart from the CEDB, Council’s liaison with over 10
other bureaux and 30 Government departments are well
established, facilitating our work in addressing specific
consumer issues that fall within their purview. We also
attach great importance to working with community groups,

regulators, professional bodies and trade associations.

Council's Representation on Other Bodies

Representatives of Council serve on a large number of public
advisory committees and boards of regulatory or statutory
bodies. We presented views from the consumer perspective
in the regulation and monitoring of various business sectors,
including financial, legal, food, electrical safety, real estate
agent and telecommunications services as well as the tourist
and insurance industries. By serving on relevant committees,
Council representatives expressed consumer concerns
and sought to enhance consumer protection relating to
consumer health and safety, residential properties, financial
and telecommunications services, regulating travel and
estate agency business as well as environmental protection
initiatives. Our views were formulated with first-hand
knowledge of consumer needs acquired through surveys
and direct contacts with consumers and traders. A full list of
external committees and statutory bodies with representation

by Council Members or staff is at Appendix 13.
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Award from Community

During the year, the Council Chief Executive was awarded
by the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(HKUST) to be the honoree of the Beta Gamma Sigma
HKUST Chapter. Each year, HKUST invites two outstanding
community leaders to be honorees of the Chapter, in
recognition of their significant achievements as an excellent
role model for the next generation leaders in the industry, the

community, and the academia.

Close Liaison with Counterparts in the
Mainland

Close liaison with the Council’s counterparts in the Mainland
(over 3 200 consumers associations in the whole country)
is maintained through exchange of information, referral
of complaints and receiving delegations from consumer
associations and related bodies from different parts of the
Mainland. During the year, 241 Mainland officials and
delegates from consumer bodies visited the Council. Apart
from experience exchange, training on consumer education
with special focus on the Consumer Culture Study Award
(CCSA) was arranged. During the summer of 2010, special
training sessions were provided by the Council to winning
students from the pilot CCSA programme launched in
Shantou University. In response to request from Beijing
government officials, arrangements were made for the Deputy
Mayor and her delegation to visit a workshop conducted by

the Council in a local school in February 2011.

The Memorandum of Cooperation signed between the
Council and the China Consumers’ Association in 2009 noted
that high-level visits should be arranged for forging closer
cooperation and experience exchange with its Mainland
counterparts. Following the Memorandum, a Council
Delegation Visit to Shanghai was arranged in June 2010. The
Delegation was led by the Council Chairman and joined by
eight Members and the Chief Executive. During its visit to the
office of the Shanghai Protection Commission of Consumers’
Rights and Interests (SPCCRI), the Delegation met with senior
officials from both the Shanghai Administration of Industry
and Commerce and the SPCCRI. Apart from discussing
issues of mutual concern, such as cross-boundary complaints
handling, undesirable trade practices and cooperation during
the Shanghai Expo period, the Delegation also took the
opportunity to solicit support for the CI World Congress to be
held in 2011 and to promote the Shopsmart website.
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During the year under review, Council’s representatives
actively attended seminars and activities held in the
Mainland. On these occasions, speeches on various
consumer-related topics, such as on-line payment, after-
sale services of electrical appliances, credit card payment,
prepayment schemes, were delivered. In October 2010,
the Chief Executive was invited by the China Consumers’
Association to attend and speak at the nation wide
Conference for Secretary Generals and leaders of Consumer
Associations to share Council’s experience in consumer
education with consumer organisations in the Mainland. In
the same month, the Chief Executive attended and spoke
at the signing ceremony of Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) for Co-operation of Consumers’ Rights and Interests
with the Heilongjiang Province, Hong Kong and Macau held

in Harbin.

With tourists from the Mainland topping the list of visitors
to Hong Kong, the Council has taken a proactive role in
ensuring shopping satisfaction of Mainland tourists. Since
2004, MOU:s for Co-operation of Consumers’ Rights and
Interests have been signed with consumer associations in
major cities/provinces in the Mainland, including Beijing,
Guangdong Province, Tianjin, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Zhejiang
Province, Fujian Province, Shantung Province, Chengdu,
Macau, the Pan-Pearl River Delta Region, etc. The MOUs
facilitate information exchanges and assistance in resolving

consumer disputes among the regions.

Council’s network in the Mainland has facilitated the
dissemination of consumer information to the Mainland
through the internet. Council’s Shopsmart Website, which
provides consumer information to Mainland visitors and
is hyperlinked to 26 Mainland organisations, recorded a
cumulative hit rate of over 80 million as at the end of 2010-11

since its debut in 2007.

Collaboration at Regional and International
Levels

The Council also keeps abreast of the global development
of consumer movement by taking part in international
fora on various consumer issues. It is an active member
of the International Consumer Research & Testing (ICRT).
The Council contributes ideas for joint tests that benefit all
members sharing the test results and gains the benefit of

lowering the test cost by sharing with other ICRT members.
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In 2010-11, international events attended by Council’s
representatives included the ICRT Asia Pacific Testing
Group meeting, Meeting on “The Role of Consumers in
the Vigilance of the Global Market” held by the Peruvian
National Congress, and Seminar on Cartel Enforcement and
International Cooperation Agencies organised by Taiwan
Fair Trade Commission. Exchanges with overseas experts
and consumer activists on these occasions enhanced the
Council's foresight in overcoming emerging challenges in the

ever-changing consumer market.

Consumers International

The Council is elected executive and council member of
the Consumers International (Cl), a federation of consumer
organisations comprising over 220 members from 115
countries. Consumers International has two main goals:
to support and strengthen member organisations and the
consumer movement in general and to represent consumer
interests at global and regional levels, e.g. at the Codex
Alimentarius Commission on food standards, Organisation for

Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), etc.

The Council takes an active and supportive role in Cl. In the
year under review, it supported Cl’s campaign calling on G20
leaders to establish an experts group on financial consumer
protection. In addition, the Chief Executive attended the ClI
Executive meetings, Council meeting, the CI Asia Pacific and
Middle East Regional Meeting and A2K Meeting.

UNCTAD Capacity Building Programme

Upon request by the United Nations Conference on Trade &
Development (UNCTAD), the Council signed an MOU with
it on co-organisation of regular exchange programmes for
developing countries. The cooperation programme further
fosters Council’s role in promoting consumer rights in the
international arena. In the past, the Council has provided
exchange programmes for various developing countries,
including Bhutan, Botswana and the Republic of South
Africa.
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Appendix 1 o [ffgg—

Appendix Fff &%

Membership of the Consumer Council

HEARBGERE

Chairperson £/&
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, JP RIARHZ @ EFIEE KT

Vice-Chairperson 5| Z /&
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, P {aISHizk & R AERED K4+

Members £5
Mr. William CHAN Che-kwong BREX L4

Mr. Chapman CHAN Chor-man BRI 564

Mr. Thomas CHENG #5288 4

Dr. Polly CHEUNG Suk-yee 3RiflZ&E4~E

Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP Z (&R 54  LBEE KP4
Dr. David CHUNG Wai-keung {25818+

Prof. Ron HUI Shu-yuen F&HR#IF

Mr. Bankee KWAN Pak-hoo BEEZ5E4E

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong (from 03.05.10) 28352+ (403.05.10)
Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho 225544

Mr. Wilfred LEE Yuen-kwong Z=TRIZE4E

Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon ZXZ 44

Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, JP ZSEH 54 SRERF 25 AP 4+
The Hon. Fred LI Wah-ming, SBS, JP ZZERZE » REF 25 AF#H 1+
Ms. Amanda LIU Lai-yun BEERERR

Mr. Stanley SZETO Chi-yan B#EH{_%E

Ms. WONG Ka-chi ERZEZ+

Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai =EELE

Prof. WONG Yung-hou FERE#i%

Ms. Irene YAU Oi-yuen EBEEIRRR

CONSUMER COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11



Appendix 2 o [ffEx—

Consumer Council
Former Chairpersons and Vice-Chairpersons

HEHZRBY — BaEE Ll X%

Year F {3 Former Chairpersons %[5 £ [&
04/1974 - 03/1975 Sir KAN Yuet-keung, CBE, JP
TINENAZE-tRF=A BBt CBE K4+

04/1975 - 03/1980 Dr. LO Kwee-seong, OBE, CBE, JP
THFMAZNTF=A ZEREFEIE L » OBE» CBE A 4R+
04/1980 - 10/1984 Mr. Gallant HO Yiu-tai, JP
NEEMAZ N\LE+A AR A AT

10/1984 - 10/1988 Mrs. Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, GBS, JP
NOFE+BENNFTA BARRNEZ L @EKRAEE  KFEHLT
10/1988 - 10/1991 Mr. Martin LEE Chu-ming, SC, JP
NN\E+AEN—FTA TR ERAEM ATt

10/1991 - 10/1997 Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, JP
N—F+RAENEFTHA BRIEHE SEFEE AT+
10/1997 - 07/1999 The Hon. Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP
NEFETREANELR HALERE @SKAEE  KFEtL
09/1999 - 09/2005 Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, SBS, JP
ANENAEZTRFNA BREEHE  REAEE KTt
09/2005 - 06/2007 Prof. The Hon. K. C. CHAN, SBS, JP
SAFNAESTERA BREGREIR  REFIEE  AFM L
Year F{3 Former Vice-Chairpersons Z [ 8] £ /&
04/1987 - 03/1989 Mr. TANG Kwai-nang, JP
NEFENABENNAE=A BEERES LA RF T

04/1989 - 10/1991 Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS,JP
NNEFEMAEN—FTA BRIRBAE SEAEE  KFH+
10/1991 - 10/1993 Mr. Justein WONG Chun, BBS, JP
NW—F+RAEN=F1HA FiEEL HERFEE XKFAH+
10/1993 - 10/1997 The Hon. Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP
N=F+AENLEFETA A EZEE SRAEE KL
10/1997- 10/2001 Dr. John HO Dit-sang
NEFE+REFT—F+H AR AT

10/2001- 10/2007 Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP
FE—F+AEFLFTA SRR ARA 2 KFA T
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Appendix 3 ¢ %=

Membership of Committees, Working Groups and
Advisory Groups

ANV iRy =

Staff & Finance Committee A& BF78/)\#8

Chairperson £/&
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, JP {RAB#HFR  SKHA 2T KFE#AHL

Vice-Chairperson 5IE/E
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP {aJfizk & R AR KP4+

Members £5
Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, |P SE R %4 EBEE T KT 41
Mr. Bankee KWAN Pak-hoo BIEZE4E
Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon ZJ# 54
Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai =EE&L4E

Audit Committee F1%/)\#8

Convenor G& A
Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, JP Z=&i5E4  SRRFIZE > AT

Members 5
Dr. Polly CHEUNG Suk-yee 3RiflZEE4E
Mr. Wilfred LEE Yuen-kwong Z=JTHIZE4

Co-opted Member 1Z#ZES
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, JP ZEZBES TR - AF 41
Competition Policy Committee 53 B 58 72/)\ 40

Chairperson /&
Mr. Thomas CHENG #5288 54

Vice-Chairperson 5| Z /&
Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP 2@ R4 LB BT K F4H T

Members £5
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP Al sk & AR AR AFAR+
Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho Z2&53E564
Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, JP Z=&I 54 SIRFIEE KA+
Mr. Stanley SZETO Chi-yan BfEH(_5E4E

Co-opted Member 1&i#ZES
Dr. LAW Cheung-kwok ZE#£E#+

Legal Protection Committee ;%2R EE#E/\E

Chairperson /&
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP {Ali ik & 2R AR » AP 4+
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Vice-Chairperson 5 £ /&
Mr. Thomas CHENG ESZ2&B5e4

Members 8
Mr. William CHAN Che-kwong BREHLE

Ms. Amanda LIU Lai-yun BEERERED
Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai &={EE%E4

Co-opted Members H#EES
Ms. Constance CHOY Hok-man #ZZEFEET
Mr. Edmond LAM King-fung 7% &2 £h

Publicity & Community Relations Committee =& & it [ERJ % /)\#8

Chairperson £/E
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP {Alii st &R A RN » ASF 4+

Vice-Chairperson &JE/E
Prof. Ron HUI Shu-yuen #FHR#%

Members £5
Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP 2 (& R4 LBEE - KT
Dr. David CHUNG Wai-keung #2588+
Mr. Wilfred LEE Yuen-kwong Z=JTRIZc4E
Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon Z3¢# 44
Ms. Amanda LIU Lai-yun BIEEE{EEM
Ms. Irene YAU Oi-yuen mREEIRIZE

Co-opted Members ##EZS
Ms. Clara SHEK A=E#L+
Dr. Max WONG Wai-lun EEZEitE+

Research & Testing Committee #%% & i E&/J\#H

Chairperson /&
Prof. WONG Yung-hou FEREH

Vice-Chairperson FIE£/E
Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon 2 X# %4

Members £8
Dr. Polly CHEUNG Suk-yee RiEE4E

Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP £ R %4 » LB E T KF 1
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP fAl/fi sk & AR AREN AT 4L

Prof. Ron HUI Shu-yuen FHR#IF

Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho (up to 09.03.11) 2487% 584 (£09.03.11)

The Hon. Fred LI Wah-ming, SBS, JP ZZERZEE  REXF 25 A P4+
Ms. WONG Ka-chi FRZL+

Co-opted Members HE#EZES
Dr. Matthew NG, JP R EARKE 4L KF4#HL
Dr. Michael TSUI Fuk-sun #R%g%28&4
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Trade Practices Committee 52 F L7/

Chairperson £/&
Mr. William CHAN Che-kwong BREAFEE

Vice-Chairperson S E/E
Dr. Polly CHEUNG Suk-yee 3RiflZE4~

Members &
Mr. Chapman CHAN Chor-man BRIEESCS4

Mr. Bankee KWAN Pak-hoo BEE 54

Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho ZR&&%54

Mr. Wilfred LEE Yuen-kwong Z=JTRISEAE

Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, P ZS#E /04  SREHEE  AF#LT
The Hon. Fred LI Wah-ming, SBS, P Z=ZERZEES  fEAES  AFH LT
Mr. Stanley SZETO Chi-yan BfEH(_5E4E

Co-opted Members H#ZES
Mr. Andrew FUNG Wai-kwong J&18t5%4
Ms. Bonnie NG Hoi-lam R FL+

Consumer Complaints Review Committee HEZEERFHEET /M

By rotation in groups of five to six Council Members E4H T NG E B iEE

Advisory Group on Investment Strategy ¥ & SRS /J\fH

Chairperson £/E
Mr. Bankee KWAN Pak-hoo BEE %4

Vice-Chairperson &IE/E
Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai &E1&E%4E

Members Z5
Dr. John CHAI Yat-chiu (from 14.03.11) &% #8E+ (F14.03.11) *

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong (from 01.06.10) 2830524+ (H01.06.10)
Prof. Angela NG Lai-ping (from 14.03.11) REESE#% (H14.03.11) *
Ms. Cecilia WOO Lee-wah (up to 05.12.10) BF1ZE42ET (£05.12.10)
Dr. YU Wing-tong (up to 05.12.10) sR7kK E 181 (£05.12.10) *
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IT Expert Advisory Group EREEXRFZH/E

Convenor BZEA
Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon Y& %4

Member £ 5
Dr. David CHUNG Wai-keung $E{&EiEL

Co-opted Members H#ZES
Mr. John CHIU Chi-yeung #2454
Mr. Francis FONG Po-kiu R BEE4
Mr. Charles Peter MOK EJ5 X564
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Task Force on Cl World Congress 2011 —FE——F B[S EHK e RE S/

Convenor BEA
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, JP RIRE#HIZ @ XHFE2E K4+

Members &
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP {Al s & R AR - AT 4R+
Mr. Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon & 54
Mr. Michael LI Hon-shing, BBS, JP ZSE 704 SR EE  AF# LT

Staff Member S
Ms. Connie LAU Yin-hing, JP B+ - KFE#T

Working Group on Competition Bill (from 15.11.10) R EGHIEXET/E/\#E (FH15.11.10)

Chairperson £/E
Mr. Thomas CHENG (from 19.01.11) B8%2884c4 (519.01.11)

Vice-Chairperson 5 E/E
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP (from 19.01.11) {al)m gt & R A 26T » A4+ (B19.01.11)

Members 5
Mr. Thomas CHENG (from 15.11.10 up to 18.01.11) #f3Z& 54 (H15.11.10 £ 18.01.11)
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP (from 15.11.10 up to 18.01.11) 3R E R AR AF 4+ (F15.11.10 E 18.01.17)
Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho &85 54
Mr. Alvin WONG Tak-wai EEESAE

Co-opted Members #i#Z S
Ms. Constance CHOY Hok-man 22220
Dr. LAW Cheung-kwok Z&#f 1

Working Group on Consumer Council Resource Centre Building Management
HEEERDPOYMEEETIE/ME

Convenor B A
Mr. CHAN Ka-kui, BBS, JP (Co-opted Member) BRZREIALA KA 2T AP+ (BEES)

Working Group Member T{E//\#fk &
Mr. Daniel C. LAM, BBS, JP (Co-opted Member) G4 KA EE KF#T (BEES)

Staff Members S
Ms. Connie LAU Yin-hing, JP ZI#EEI £+ AF 4+
Ms. Wendy LAM Yuen-mui #REBHEZL 1
Mr. WONG Koon-shing ER5E4E
Mr. Joseph YOUNG (from 17.02.11) 1582 E %4 (F17.02.11)
Ms. Vennie LAl Man-yee (up to 30.11.10) 22854+ (£30.11.10)

2010-1T HEEZESFR

81



82

Appendix 3 ¢ %=

Working Group on Consumer Issues relating to Residential Property

EEMERAEEERETEIE

Convenor BEA
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP {Al)m s &R A2 » A4+

Vice Convenor SIZEA
Mr. William CHAN Che-kwong BREN L

Members Z5
Mr. Chapman CHAN Chor-man BRZE 254
Mr. Thomas CHENG EF#282564
Mr. Raymond CHOY Wai-shek, MH, JP 2@ R4 LEBEET KT
Mr. Joe LAl Wing-ho ZRZ&3E 54
The Hon. Fred LI Wah-ming, SBS, |JP Z#ZERZRE  RERAEE AF#HLT
Ms. Amanda LIU Lai-yun BERERNTEAT

Co-opted Members 1E#EZS

Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP SEWERAD AKRFIEE  KFE#HL
Mr. Daniel C. LAM, BBS, P #Ec4  SREFEE A4+

CONSUMER COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11



Appendix 4 o [f#$k00

Consumer Council and Office
HEBEZB T NIREIE

Chairman
Prof. The Hon Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, JP
EE

RMREIR  EXAEE » KL

Vice-Chairman
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC, JP
BIEFE
MERE R AR KT

Consumer Council and Committees

HEEZEERB/IVERE
Head, Legal Affairs Division
Mr. Simon CHUI
Legal Affairs Division AREBEEERE
EREHE RIRSEE

Head, Administration & External
Affairs Division*

Administration & External
ministration & Externa Mr. Joseph YOUNG

Affairs Division

Chief Executive TR IS TBR M EEPEE T (1>
Ms. Connie LAU, JP IHEREEL
S
BIFeI Lt R4 Complaints & Advice Principal Complaints & Advice Centralised Telephone
Division Officer Hotline Centre & 7
R B SR ER __ Ms.Sana LAl Consumer Advice Centres
KWIRRFBRSBEFEEE BigRORK
Ze i<zt TRIEBEZAPL
Research & Trade Pracitces
Division Principal Research &
HERGEF LEEFEE Trade Practices Officer

Ms. Rosa WONG
MARBEFLIEHIEREEE
R G

Principal Public Affairs Officer**

Public Affairs Division Ms. Clara LI
. " DNHEFEED NHEEDEFEEE
Deputy Chief Executive 2B+
Ms. Wendy LAM
i Head, Consumer Education Division
P E i1 ’ .
AN Consu'gif:lrisig:‘:at'o“ Mr. WONG Koon-shing Consumer Council
HBEHBL HEBEHGPREMR esource Call
% Ha BEEZEZERFTO

FREREE

Renumeration for top three tiers of staff in the Consumer Council JHZ& & = 4R £ 57 b
Chief Executive - Directorate Pay Scale Point D3 %% % - BRAFRKEF2 D3

Deputy Chief Executive - Directorate Pay Scale Point D1 EI#8%% - BRAFRKIE DI

Principal Officer / Senior Legal Counsel - Master Pay Scale Point 45 - 49 BEEAT - A3FARFKIFRE 45 - 49

* Head, Administration & External Affairs Division 1TE % SN E&BAEF(E
Ms. Vennie LAI (up to 30.11.10) 2852zt (£30.11.10)  Mr. Joseph YOUNG (from 17.02.11) B8 &5 4 (H17.02.11)

** Principal Public Affairs Officer ARSI EFEET
Mr. Kenneth SO (up to 18.06.10) BRE4E4 (£18.06.10) Ms. Clara LI (from 14.06.10) =4 522+ (F114.06.10)

2010-1T HEEZESFR 83



84

Appendix 5 o kA

CONSUMER COUNCIL

(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer
Council Ordinance)

Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2011

CONSUMER COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11



Appendix 5 o [f{$kA

CONSUMER COUNCIL

REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

CONTENTS PAGE(S)
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 1&2
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 3
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 5
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 6
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7-20

2010-11 HBEZESER

85



Appendix 5 o kA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Council (the "Council") set out on pages 3
to 20, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the income
and expenditure account, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Council's members' responsibilities for the financial statements

The Council's members are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and for such internal control as the
Council's members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the agreed terms of engagement
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Council's preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Council's members, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Council's
affairs as at 31 March 2011 and of its surplus and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

D LL‘_*,'t'f‘j,.’P{}-‘-»c.-L'xJ;;. F ) (P R

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

1 August 2011
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

NOTES 2011 2010
HKS HKS$
(restated)
INCOME
Government subvention 78,173,000 76,251,076
Non-recurrent projects subvention 6 7,450,109 7,240,383
Sales of "Choice" magazine and other publication 2,292,369 2,292,121
Management fee income 1,934,000 1,828,000
Interest on bank deposits 95,351 51,540
Sundry income 372,977 309,044
90,317,806 87,972,164
LESS:
EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 7 62,179,081 60,994,587
Testing and research 4,499,674 4,162,576
Non-recurrent projects expenses 8 5,454,066 5,573,438
Depreciation and amortisation for property, plant
and equipment 3,614,967 4,013,630
Office equipment and maintenance 1,026,945 904,631
Office accommodation related expenses 2,379,839 2,248,865
Auditor's remuneration 135,700 131,000
Consumer education 457,656 421,415
Consumer international membership fees 318,511 316,000
Council member expenses 54,800 55,800
Interest expense on bank borrowing not wholly
repayable within five years 32,373 32,350
International conferences and duty visits 191,834 315,228
Production and marketing cost of "Choice" magazine 1,747,464 1,654,602
Publicity and public relations 341,688 362,582
Other administrative expenses 1,794,383 1,830,166
84,228,981 83,016,870
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 6,088,825 4,955,294
-3-
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 MARCH 2011

NOTES 31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
HK$ HK$ HKS
(restated) (restated)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 9 58,197,525 59,104,263 60,084,034
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 10 1,301,894 1,197,894 1,075,337
Loans and advances to staff 10 266,644 240,015 293,279
Amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund 10 1,934,000 1,828,000 1,432,000
Bank balances and cash 11 43,928,895 35,979,619 24,771,882
47,431,433 39,245,528 27,572,498
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Subscriptions received in advance 633,756 748,561 713,170
Accounts payable and accrued charges 12 6,145,694 6,359,412 4,560,830
Provision for untaken leave 3,791,099 3,968,203 3,973,051
Secured bank borrowing 13 355,672 356,125 346,573
Subventions received 14 18,467,779 16,024,084 11,367,494
29,394,000 27,456,385 20,961,118
NET CURRENT ASSETS 18,037,433 11,789,143 6,611,380
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Secured bank borrowing 13 2,851,125 3,202,298 3,563,500
Subventions received 14 7,522,500 7,918,600 8,314,700
10,373,625 11,120,898 11,878,200
65,861,333 59,772,508 54,817,214
REPRESENTING:
Leasehold property control account 15 53,869,352 55,324,257 57,100,359
Equipment control account 16 4,328,173 3.780,006 2,983,675
Designated fund for approved projects 17 5,469,894 4,768,665 5,701,678
Accumulated surplus (deficit) 2,193,914 (4,100,420)  (10,968,498)

65,861,333 59,772,508 54,817,214

The financial statements on pages 3 to 20 were approved and authorised for issue by the members of the
Consumer Council on 1 August 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHIEFEXECUTIVE
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Designated
Leasehold Equipment fund for Accumulated
property control approved surplus
control account account projects (Deficit) Total
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HKS
At 1 April 2009 (restated) 57,100,359 2,983,675 5,701,678 (10,968,498)  54,817.214
Surplus for the year - - - 4,955,294 4,955,294
Current year addition - 796,331 - (796,331) -
Current year utilisation (1,776,102) - (933,013) 2,709,115 -
At 31 March 2010 (restated) 55,324,257 3,780,006 4,768,665 (4,100,420) 59,772,508
Surplus for the year - - - 6,088,825 6,088,825
Current year addition - 548,167 701,229 (1,249,396) -
Current year utilisation (1,454,905) - - 1,454,905 -
At 31 March 2011 53,869,352 4,328,173 5,469,894 2,193,914 65,861,333
-5-
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

2011 2010
HKS HKS
(restated)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Surplus for the year 6,088,825 4,955,294
Adjustments for:
Government subvention for addition of leasehold property (396,100) (396,100)
Government subvention for addition of property, plant and equipment  (1,599,944) (1,154,197)
Interest expense for bank borrowing 32,373 32,350
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 3,614,967 4,013,630
Interest income (95,351) (51,540)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 7,644,770 7,399,437
Increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments (110,345) (139,935)
(Increase) decrease in loans and advances to staff (26,629) 53,264
Increase in amount due from the Consumer Legal Action Fund (106,000) (396,000)
(Decrease) increase in subscriptions received in advance (114,805) 35,391
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued charges (213,718) 2,177,782
Decrease in provision for untaken leave (177,104) (4,848)
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 6,896,169 9,125,091
Interest paid (32,373) (32,350)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 6,863,796 9,092,741
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 101,696 68,918
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,708,229) (3,033,859)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,606,533) (2,964,941)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank borrowing (351,626) (351,650)
Government subventions received for non-recurrent projects 8,029,560 10,361,937
Government subventions utilised for non-recurrent projects (4,233,123) (4,947.101)
Funds received for other non-recurrent Projects 664,685 760,735
Funds utilised for other non-recurrent Projects (417.483) (743,984)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,692,013 5,079,937
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,949,276 11,207,737
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR 35,979,619 24,771,882
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash 43,928,895 35,979,619
-6-
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

1. ORGANISATION AND ACTIVITIES

The Consumer Council (the "Council") is a body corporate with perpetual succession established
under the Consumer Council Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for the purpose
of protecting and promoting the interests of consumers of goods, immovable property and
services. It is mainly funded by Government subventions. The Council is also appointed as
trustee for the Consumer Legal Action Fund under a Deed of Trust for the purpose of offering
financial assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies and protection.

The address of the registered office and principal place of operation of the Council is 22nd Floor,
K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Council is exempted from profits tax under the provision of section 87 of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is same as the functional
currency of the Council.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Company has applied the following new and revised Standards,
Amendments and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA").

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Additional Exemptions for First-time Adaptors

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

HKTFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Rights Issues

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008

HEK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

HK - Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by

the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations in

the current year has had no material effect on the amounts reported in these financial statements
and/or disclosures set out in these financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

Amendments to HKAS 17 Leases

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in the amendments to HKAS 17, the Council
reassessed the classification of unexpired leasehold land as at 1 April 2010 based on information
that existed at the inception of the leases. Leasehold land that qualifies for finance lease
classification has been reclassified from prepaid lease payment to property, plant, and equipment
retrospectively. As aresult of the reclassification of prepaid lease payments with previous
carrying amounts of HK$42,805,862 and HK$42,470,563 as at 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010
respectively to property, plant and equipment, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
cquipment are increased by the same amount from HK$17,278,172 and HK$16,633,700 to
HK$60,084,034 and HK$59,104,263 as at 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 respectively. The
carrying amount of HK$42,135,264 of such leasehold land as 31 March 2011 that qualifies for
finance lease classification has been included in property, plant and equipment. The application
of the amendments to HKAS 17 has had no impact on the reported profit or loss for the current
and prior years.

The Company has not early applied the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters’

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates
for First-time Adopters’

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets®

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements’

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements”

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement"

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets’

HKAS 19 (Revised 2011) Employee Benefits*

HKAS 24 (Revised 2009) Related Party Disclosures®

HKAS 27 (Revised 2011) Separate Financial Statements’

HKAS 28 (Revised 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 (Amendments) Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January 2011,
as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

The Council's members anticipate that the application of the above new and revised Standards and
Interpretation will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Company.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. The principal accounting

policies adopted are as follows:

Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales returns.

- Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

- Sales of "Choice" and other publications are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

- Sales of "Choice" on-line subscription are recognised when services are provided.

- Licence fee income for "Choice" on-line is recognised on a straight-line basis over the -
relevant lease term.

Government subventions

Government subventions for recurrent projects are recognised when funds are appropriated by the
Government.

Government subventions for non-recurrent projects are recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match with the related costs which are intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the government of HKSAR are accounted for as capital
contribution and recognised in the appropriate equity account.

Property. plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Property. plant and equipment - continued

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefi